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We consider environmental and social impacts,
governance, economic development, pollution
control and the responsible use and protection
of natural resources to fall under the umbrella
of Sustainable Development.
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Financial Highlights

For the years ended 30 June
(in thousand pounds sterling)

2009 2008 2007

Group’s Net Asset Value valued at 150.45 pence
per share at 30 June 2009
• Maiden dividend of 1.5 pence per share paid in May 2009

• Proposed final dividend of 3 pence per share for year ended June 2009

• Risk adjusted CER portfolio contracted – 41m tonne pre-2012 

• Cash and cash equivalent amounted to 62 pence per share at June 2009

• Share buyback during the year - total £21.4m including brokerage

• First exit of a carbon loan and equity investment generated a 41% annualised 
return in January 2009.

Consolidated
For the financial year
Operating (loss)/profit (238,096) 181,372 136,772 
(Loss)/profit after tax (228,590) 188,419 151,843 
Dividend per share

paid 1.5p - -
proposed 3.0p - -

Company
At the financial year end
Cash and cash equivalent 158,131 139,157 262,150 
Total Assets 447,552 676,194 484,397 
Total Equity 381,447 621,834 455,122 

Cash flow
Net cash flow from /(used in) operating activities 28,493 (49,559) 550 
Net cash flow from /(used in) investing activities 31,981 (76,154) (56,694) 
Net cash flow from /(used in) financing activities (25,504) (9,967) -   



A key achievement this year has been
the progress of the CER portfolio through
the CDM registration process,
demonstrated by the improvement in 
the maturity of the portfolio.

“
”
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CDM Status
Portfolio progress through the Registration process at 1st October 2009 (pre-2012)
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Sustainable Development Statement

05 April

Admission on
AIM and
£135M raised

06 May

C Shares issued
and £175M raised

First project
successfully
registered

06 December

First CER 
issued from its
project

07 November

C Shares
merged with
Ordinary Shares
at a ratio of
0.8683 : 1

The classic definition of Sustainable
Development is “development that
meets the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs”
(Our Common Future (1987), Oxford: Oxford
University Press). 

Trading Emissions plc (“TEP” or the
“Company”) operates in environmental
markets, seeking to be involved in
projects that reduce greenhouse gases,
either as a purchaser of carbon credits,
or as a financier or an owner of such
projects. The Company also owns
shares of companies that provide
services, develop and / or own projects
and trade in environmental markets; all
with a view of giving investors exposure
to the carbon and environmental
markets. 

The Company’s business is therefore
inherently connected to projects and
business activities that have the
potential to promote sustainable
development objectives, such as the
production of energy from renewable
sources, increasing the efficiency of
industrial activities, providing solutions
to waste management that reduce
pollution and the provision of services
in environmental markets. The
Company considers environmental and
social impacts, governance, economic
development, pollution control and the
responsible use and protection of
natural resources to fall under the
umbrella of Sustainable Development. 

All potential project opportunities are
initially evaluated by a team of

Investment Advisers with specific
expertise in the sectors and
geographies of the project. The
Company rejects projects that in the
Investment Adviser’s view may have
significant negative environmental or
social impacts, such as loss of
biodiversity, food security implications
or significant population displacement
or disruption.  Thereafter, the
Company’s ability to influence a project
varies according to its contractual
relationship with the project host.  

Contracts to purchase carbon credits
resulting from Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) projects form a
significant part of the Company’s
portfolio of assets.  A criterion of the
CDM is that all projects should
contribute to the sustainable
development of the host country, as
determined by a nominated
government agency in that country.
Projects are also subject to review and
approval by a designated and
independent third party and by the
UNFCCC Executive Board.  In addition
to this third party assessment, the
Company ensures that where
appropriate, its projects are developed
according to CDM Gold Standard
criteria.  This independent standard
provides project developers with a
matrix based toolkit to check that their
projects are designed to make
significant contributions to long-term
sustainable development. 

Where TEP is involved in financing
projects and companies, it has a

development that
meets the needs of the
present without
compromising the
ability of future
generations to meet
their own needs. 
(Our Common Future (1987), Oxford: Oxford
University Press). 

“

”



Trading Emissions plc Report and Accounts 2009   05

08 October

Community Independent
Transaction Log (CITL)
linked to the United
Nations’ International
Transaction Log (ITL)

09 January

Realised the first
carbon loan and
equity investment
with 41%
annualised return

09 May

Maiden
dividend
paid

greater degree of influence and
responsibility.  The Company has put in
place procedures to screen, select,
develop and manage its investments
with reference to appropriate
international standards, including the
Equator Principles, the IFC
Environmental and Social Performance
Standards and the criteria of the World
Commission on Dams.  The Company
prefers to be an active member on the
board of its investee companies and
seeks to promote good governance.  

Where relevant, the Company 
has ensured that investments are
accompanied by “Community
Development Programmes” through
which the investee company engages
with local communities as an active
stakeholder in project development,
contributing to the improvement of
community infrastructure, healthcare,
water and sanitation, education, food
security and employment. 

The Company continuously evaluates
voluntary initiatives and standards
which the board believes are applicable
to the Company’s business as it
evolves.  The board is aware of
business sectors such as biofuels for
which agreed international standards
do not yet exist. In such cases the
Company uses its expertise and
judgement to ensure that appropriate
investment screening followed by
ongoing management and monitoring
is undertaken.   

The Company’s Investment Adviser is
committed to maintaining and

improving the sustainability of its
working practices, including an
extensive recycling programme,
managing agendas and itineraries to
keep air travel to a minimum, and
offsetting those emissions that cannot
be avoided, energy management and
the using energy efficient appliances
where appropriate.

The Company believes that this
approach to sustainable development,
embracing ethical decision making,
also has commercial benefits, with the
potential to enhance return to
shareholders: attention to international
environmental and social benchmarks
improves the long  term risk profile of
the Company’s projects; projects have
better access to funding through
adherence to standards such as the
Equator Principles; and the Company’s
profile is strengthened amongst
investee companies, improving its
access to new projects. 

The Company is committed to the
continuous development of its
environmental and social screening
criteria, performance and ongoing
monitoring of its projects and
investments, as well as the promotion
of best practice in its business
operations.  The Company will continue
to develop its policy on these matters
and will report on an annual basis. 

Bertrand Rassool, Director 

October 2009
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Global Activities

The Company enters into contracts for the purchase of Certified Emission
Reductions (CERs) directly from projects that reduce greenhouse gases.

We also provide secured debt finance
to companies or project developers to
meet project development costs,
provide working capital or fund the
construction.  Loan repayments are
made in carbon credits and secured
with project assets or other forms of
collateral.  Equity can be made
available to companies developing or

operating Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) projects to finance
project development and construction.
Moreover, equity and mezzanine
finance may be provided to companies
that will be exposed to the carbon
market, giving the Company an indirect
exposure to the price of carbon or a
broader class of environmental credits.

CER Portfolio by Technology

Fugitive HFC Mitigation
Natural Gas
Coal Mine Methane
Renewable - Hydro
Biogas
Waste Energy Recovery
Landfill Gas
Renewable - Wind
Renewable - Biomass
N2O
Others

1%

21%

17%

16%

16%

10%

6%

5%
4%

3%
1%
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The Company invests in CDM projects
predominately in China, Southeast Asia and
Latin America.  Approximate 80% of its CERs
are originated from China, 10% from
Southeast Asia and 7% from South America.
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Project Highlights

Sun Biofuels Ltd, biofuel
project in Mozambique

Sun Biofuels took over 5,000 hectares
of land in Manica district of Gondola in
2006 which had once been occupied
by a tobacco company.  It began
work on jatropha plantations in
January 2009 and intends to cultivate
4,000 hectares within 18 months.
Sun Biofuels is testing 96 varieties of
jatropha.  A government Minister
stressed that it’s policy of zoning
defines use of land and is ensuing that
there will be no collision between food
production and biofuels.  Sun Biofuels
emphasizes on communities and
environmental responsibilities in
countries it operates.  As well as
jatropha, it also cultivates maize and
sunflowers – crops that help to
increase the food security of the
local community.

Korat Waste to Energy,
Thailand

KWTE is one of the first few CDM
projects approved by the Thai
Government   It is an anaerobic
digestion project, treating wastewater
from a starch production plant in
Nakhon Ratchasima Province.  The
Anaerobic Baffled Reactor is used to
remove the organic material in
wastewater, and reduce methane
emissions from existing open lagoons.
Biogas produced during the process
is used by the host plant substituting
fuel oil.  Excess biogas is used to
generate electricity and supply 
to the grid.

Element Markets LCC, US

Element Markets expands its
environmental markets business,
particularly in the North American
GHG sector, with focus on Regional
Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), the
Climate Action Reserve and the
Voluntary Carbon Standard.  It is also
active in development of renewable
energy and greenhouse gas reduction
projects.  Recent successes include
solar projects development with a real
estate group, completion of methane
capture projects and completion of
site control for wind projects in coastal
Texas and Illinois.
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Santa Rita Hydro Project,
Peru

The 251MW hydro project is now fully
permitted, with approved
Environmental Impact Assessment,
Generator Concession, Transmission
Concession and statement of no
archaeological remains.  It is now
progressing with final construction
permits and easements.   Civil work,
electromechanical equipment and
transmission costs are fully
elaborated.  The project is in 
validation for CDM. 

Helanshan Wind power
generation project,
Ningxia, China

This is the one of the early projects in
China the Company contracted for
CERs.  The project installed 84 wind
turbines with a total capacity of
111.9MW.  The power is supplied to
the Northwest China Power Grid.  The
project contributes to sustainable
development in the poverty-stricken
minority region. The project has
issued in excess of 300,000 CERs
over 3 years.

Hubei Yuquanhe
Hydropower project, China

The Company has a good track
record in large hydro power project,
having successfully submitted the first
World Commission on Dams (WCD)
compliant large hydro project
(Yuquanhe) ever to be approved by
the UK government.  The project was
later registered in March 2009.
Yuquanhe 25.2MW hydropower
project is located in Hubei Province of
China.  It is a new run-of-river
hydropower project with reservoir
having power density greater than
4W/m2. The project will install two
turbines with annual total electricity
generation of 100,920 MWh and net
electricity delivered to the grid of
97,912 MWh.   The project is to utilize
the hydrological resource of the river
and generate GHG emission
reductions by displacing electricity in
Central China Power Grid that 
would otherwise generated by the
fossil fuel fired power plants.  The
project will contribute to the local
sustainable development.
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Chairman’s Report
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009

It has been a solid
year for the Company
in a difficult economic
climate with progress
on many fronts. We
have seen the
distribution of cash to
shareholders, a
successful exit from our
first private equity
investment, continued
de-risking of our carbon
portfolio, and
considerable increase
in cash.

I am pleased to report the Group’s
results for the year ended 30 June
2009.  The Company has performed
robustly to the challenging financial
environment of the last twelve months;
it has continued to demonstrate strong
progress in the maturity of the portfolio,
a strengthened cash position, and a
swift recovery from the drop in share
price experienced earlier this year. 

The Company's Net Asset Value (NAV)
at 30 June 2009 was 150.45 pence
per share.  This is down from 226.69
pence per share the previous year.  The
loss is largely the result of the decline in
the market price for Certified Emission
Reductions (CERs) between these two
dates.  The December 2009 price for
Certified Emission Reductions (CERs)
has varied between €7.39 and €22.38
per CER during the last 12 months.
The valuation for year end was
completed based on a price of €11.78
per CER for delivery in December
2009, compared with the 30 June
2008 price of €21.47 per CER.

However, the Company is in an
exceptionally strong financial position
and is well placed to ride out the recent
financial volatility and, accordingly, we
are pleased to report a final dividend of
three pence per share.

Looking forward, the Company is
paying close attention to the upcoming
climate change negotiations in
Copenhagen in December 2009 and to
encouraging developments towards a
domestic emissions trading scheme in
the United States. We are ensuring that
the CER portfolio, our investments and
future strategy are coordinated with our
view of the likely evolution of the
carbon market.  

Over the course of this year, the
Company has reinforced its niche in the
carbon market; there are three distinct
activities:

To enter into emission reduction

purchase agreements for the forward
purchase of emissions credits from
clean energy or emission reduction
projects.  Such contracts are often
signed at an early phase of project
development and may be an important
part of the project finance process. We
also usually contract before the
emissions permits are approved and
registered by the Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) Executive Board.
Because of this, we have been able to
enter into these contracts at substantial
discounts to the price at which
secondary credits trade on exchange,
taking into account the political,
development, registration and macro
economic risks of final delivery.  To
date, our average purchase price per
contracted CER is €7.52.

Secondly, to make structured debt
and equity investments in alternative
energy and other greenhouse gas
reduction projects, and in strategically
positioned companies. These
investments generate a cash revenue
stream, for example from energy sales,
or cost savings, but also produce an
additional harvest of emission reduction
credits. We also expect capital gain
from growth in our investee businesses.
The Company exited its first such
investment in Econergy International
during the year, with excellent results.
Our Investment Adviser’s dedicated
team has a wealth of knowledge and
expertise and has done a wonderful job
during both the origination and
investment phase, and the subsequent
management of the portfolio.

The third activity is trading: hedging of
carbon price risk, portfolio optimisation
and the ultimate realisation of cash
from our carbon credit portfolio.  

I will begin with a summary of highlights
from the year:  

1. A key achievement this year has
been the progress of the CER
portfolio through the CDM

“

”
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registration process, demonstrated
by the improvement in the maturity
of the portfolio. 74% of the portfolio
pre-2012 is now registered. 

2. 6.3m CERs have been delivered to
the Company; this inventory has
been a mainstay of our portfolio
optimisation and trading approach.
The Company had previously
announced its aim for delivery of 5m
CERs by April 2009, and
comfortably met this target. 

3. The Company maintains a strong
cash position at 30 June 2009. 
Cash per share was 62 pence at 
30 June 2009 compared with 
50 pence per share at 30 June
2008. The Company’s CER
purchase obligations are
substantially cash backed.    

4. The Company’s average acquisition
price of €7.52/CER remains well
below both the price at which it is
possible to originate primary CERs,
and the current secondary market
price. 

5. As reported in our trading statement
in January 2009, the Company
completed its first and highly
profitable exit from one of its earliest
structured equity and finance
transactions, providing capital to
Econergy International in 2005 to be
repaid in CERs. At the 30 June 2009
market price of €11.75 per CER, the
combined elements of the
transaction generated an annualised
return of 41%. 

6. Following completion of the
international trading infrastructure
required to import CERs into Europe
(known as the CITL-ITL link) in
October 2008, the Company has
been actively trading in the
secondary market, taking advantage
of its inventory and arbitrage
opportunities, and optimising its
portfolio and cash position.  

Particularly given the economic context
this year, I am pleased to report the
Company’s year end valuation.  We use
the same methodology as for previous
years; based on the net present value
(discounted at 10%) of the risk
adjusted contracted portfolio valued at
market prices on 30 June 2009, as per
Tables 1 and 2 below, and taking into
account the weighted average CER
acquisition price of €7.52 per CER, the
portion of the portfolio that has been
hedged through futures contracts, or
already realised through
commercialisation, and the private
equity portfolio.  Based on this method,
the Company’s Net Asset Value (NAV)
per share at year end was 150.45
pence.  The Company’s risk adjustment
parameters have been revised to reflect
carbon market conditions (particularly
registration and issuance risks),
resulting in a slightly more conservative
statement of the portfolio. 

Table 1 shows the risk adjusted
aggregate volume of CERs that were
contracted for delivery to the Company,
both prior to 30 April 2013 (“pre-2012”)
and after this date (“post-2012”).
Numbers have been rounded to the
nearest 1000 CERs.  

Table 1: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for valuation – 30 June 2009

No. of Carbon Credits Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category C – Contracted 40,998,000 10,374,000 51,372,000

Of which delivered 5,634,000 - 5,634,000



12 Trading Emissions plc Report and Accounts 2009

Chairman’s Report (continued)
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009

Table 2 shows the European Climate
Exchange (ECX) CER futures contracts
settlement prices for delivery pre-2012
and our post-2012 valuation price,
based on over the counter (OTC)
reference prices. 

It is important to note here the manner
in which the Company’s post-2012
portfolio is accounted for in the
valuation. Unlike pre-2012, there is no
liquid secondary market reference price
available post 2012, thus we rely on a
combination of quotes from brokers
and public statements from buyers.  It
is the Board’s view that our reference
price of €7.00 per CER is an
appropriate price for valuation
purposes, on the basis that it reflects a
level at which a transaction could be
completed in the market today, for the
future delivery of a generic CER after
30 April 2013. However, it is the
Board’s view that there will be
significant upward pressure on pricing
as 2012 approaches; therefore it is the
Company’s intention to remain long
post-2012, and our expectation that
there may be tremendous upside in this
element of the Company’s portfolio. 

As of the date of the report, the
Company had sold or hedged 26% of
its pre-2012 CER portfolio, of which
19% has been hedged and not settled
(this includes all forward looking futures

transactions, including sale of call
options) and 7% has been sold or
swapped and delivered. 

As we had predicted, the Company’s
rate of production of CERs has not
been impaired due to the economic
downturn, however, like other carbon
market participants, the Company has
been exposed to delays in the issuance
process and further losses due to the
rejection of the projects by the CDM
Executive Board.  Losses in the CER
portfolio over the year have been
partially compensated through the
acquisition of new projects. To put this
in context, market analysts had initially
predicted up to 3 billion CERs could be
generated by the CDM before 2012.
This figure is now estimated to be less
than 1.3 billion. 

The Board is confident that the
Company’s risk adjustment factors
mean that the portfolio is stated
conservatively. We continue to actively
engage in discussions regarding reform
to the CDM and the institutions that
administrate it to improve certain
processes and the transparency and
accountability of the CDM Executive
Board.

The Company’s private equity portfolio
offers an excellent diversification to the
Company’s CER portfolio, and we
believe that it very much reflects a
robust and forward looking approach to
investing in carbon markets.  The
majority of the Company’s investments
are valued at fair value (approximately
at cost less any impairments
recognised); we have made one
successful and highly profitable exit
(Econergy International). During the
year the Company’s pipeline of private
equity leads and transactions in
negotiation has grown substantially,
and we look forward to reporting on
new deals as these transactions
develop. I believe the Company is
positioned uniquely and at a unique

Table 2: Valuation reference prices – 30 June 2009

December Contract Year

Spot

2009

2010

2011

2012

Post 2012*

ECX CER Futures Contracts
Settlement price (€)

11.75

11.78

11.54

11.72

12.13

7.00

*Based on OTC reference prices
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time, when carbon market expertise is
at a premium. We regularly hear that it
is rare to encounter an investor that
can credibly offer best in class carbon
management and CER value
optimisation and these skills are
increasingly welcomed by the existing
shareholders of our target investee
companies. Our investment adviser has
valuable experience of renewable
energy project development, project
management and engineering, capital
raising and corporate governance.

The Company maintains a strong and
entirely un-leveraged cash position. The
twelve month reporting period
generated operating cash inflow of
£10.5m. To date, cash has been
returned to shareholders through a
series of share buybacks and a 1.5
pence per share dividend paid in May
2009.  The Company bought back
24.8m shares for a total cost of £21.4m
last year, at an average price of
approximately 86.3 pence per share.
Together with the previous share
buyback exercise, the Company has
now bought back 31.8m shares,
representing 11.1% of the total issued
shares prior to the buybacks.  The
share premiums paid for the buyback
were wholly funded from the
Company’s retained earnings.

The Board has recommended a final
dividend of three pence per share,
which subject to approval by the
Company in the general meeting, will
be paid in January 2010, with a total
cost of £7.7m. In line with our
expectations, this brings the total
dividend for the year to 4.5 pence per
share, following the interim dividend of
1.5 pence per share. 

As a result of its strong cash position,
the Company has not been under
pressure to commercialise its CER
inventory and pipeline at suboptimal
prices in order to create cash flow to
cover operating expenses and CER

purchases.  We remain bullish about
the market, and the Company will not
be a net seller at current prices.   The
ability to bank credits between phases
of the market is extremely important as
it will allow the EU market price to 2012
and beyond to be heavily influenced by
outcomes from the international climate
change negotiations in Copenhagen
this December.  

The momentum as we approach the
December 2009 Copenhagen meetings
will depend somewhat on the outcome
of the Climate Bill proposed to go
before the US Senate in October.
Having been passed by the House of
Representatives in June this year, the
bill could lead to the establishment of
the world’s largest national level
emission trading scheme, with a
baseline emissions in excess of six
billion tonnes per year, and with
participants required to reduce
emissions by 17% compared with 2005
levels by 2020.  Success of this bill
through the Senate this October would
give the US negotiators a clear
mandate at Copenhagen.  If this is the
case, the Board is optimistic that high
level reduction targets to 2020 for
developed countries, and provision for
timetables and targets for the fastest
growing developing countries soon
thereafter, will be the outcome of the
Copenhagen meetings, with detailed
implementation text to follow from
subsequent meetings.  Even without
Senate endorsement, all indicators
point to the seriousness with which the
Obama Administration is dealing with
the issue of climate change mitigation,
and the use of markets to promote
economic efficiency. 

It is our view that there are already
important indicators available as to how
the market is likely to develop beyond
2012, and these views guide the
composition of an optimal portfolio of
assets for maximum fungibility and
value. We are mindful of the kinds of

The summit in
Copenhagen in
December will be an
important meeting for
the carbon industry and
we are optimistic for the
outcome.

“

”
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Chairman’s Report (continued)
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009

restrictions that may be imposed by
national and regional emission trading
markets with respect to the use of
offsets, and building our post 2012
portfolio and optimising our inventory
and forward position accordingly.  We
also believe that land use, forestry (both
re-forestation and avoided
deforestation) and agricultural activities
will rise in prominence in the market
post 2012; we believe these to be
important markets for future growth
and opportunity and we have been and
will continue to actively pursue
opportunities in these sectors.  

We believe that the North American
market has the potential to grow
exponentially and we expect to
become more actively involved in it. We
also believe that there will be an
attractive and long term future for the
Company beyond 2012, and intend to
keep this topic under review with
shareholders over the next few months.

It is no longer possible to replicate this
Company’s position in the carbon
market.  We do not believe that there
are other listed or private companies
who have so effectively captured the
arbitrage between primary and
secondary markets, and managed the
arbitrage between immature and
registered, operating projects, while
remaining predominantly long into a
market that only continues to exhibit
potential for growth and expansion.
The Board remains confident of the
Company’s unique position and its
ability to deliver superior returns to all
investors. 

Neil Eckert
Chairman
30 September 2009
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The Company’s Investment Adviser,
EEA Fund Management Limited,
continues to originate, execute and
manage transactions on behalf of the
Company, with a view to the acquisition
and aggregation of a portfolio of carbon
credits at appropriate prices, and
delivery of investments to, directly or
indirectly, give shareholders diversified
exposure to the price of carbon credits.

This statement updates investors on
the Company’s activities for the year
ended 30 June 2009, including material
post-balance sheet events up to the
date of publication. Transaction
categories can broadly be defined 
as follows:

Emission Reduction Purchase
Agreements (ERPAs) in which the
Company enters into a contract for the
spot or forward purchase of primary
Certified Emission Reductions (CERs)
with payment on delivery. 

Structured debt and equity
transactions where secured debt
finance or equity is made available to
companies developing or operating
Clean Development Mechanism (CDM)
projects, enabling the Company to
acquire CERs directly from the 
project as either lender or owner of 
the project. 

Strategic investments in companies
or facilities that will by their nature be
exposed to carbon price, and through
which the Company can gain indirect
exposure to the price of carbon in a
diverse range of markets, including
North America, or in a broader class of
environmental assets. 

The Company has weathered the
challenging market conditions well and
continues to demonstrate a strong
cash position. The business is under no
pressure to commercialise its portfolio
at current market prices in order to
cover operating expenses or ongoing
CER purchase obligations. 

The Company maintained a
comfortable €4.00 per CER margin at
the year end secondary CER price,
given its average purchase price of
€7.52 per CER.  This has risen to
approximately €4.40 per CER on the
date of publication. Over the last 12
months, the Company’s trading
activities have been focused on
portfolio optimisation and capturing
arbitrage opportunities to generate
returns on the Company’s portfolio; the
Company has undertaken limited
commercialisation this year and is not a
net seller at current market prices.

1 Risk Adjusted Portfolio

Here we present the Company’s risk
adjusted portfolio, in two categories –
“Category B” (Heads of terms – in
exclusive negotiations) and “Category
C” (Contracted).  Figures are presented
at year end, and on the date of this report.

We quote the portfolio in aggregate, for
two periods; firstly, CERs for receipt
prior to 30 April 2013 (“Pre-2012”), and
secondly, for receipt after this date
(“Post-2012”).  All annual receipts are
defined as volumes received by 30 April
the following year.

The year end (30 June 2009) positions
are summarised below in Table 1,
rounded to the nearest 1000 CERs:

Investment Adviser’s Report
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009

Table 1: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for Categories B and C, and delivered
volumes  – 30 June 2009

No. of Carbon Credits Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category B – Heads of terms 1,008,000 - 1,008,000

Category C – Contracted 40,998,000 10,374,000 51,372,000

Total 42,006,000 10,374,000 52,380,000

Of which delivered 5,634,000 - 5,634,000

The Company has
weathered the
challenging market
conditions well and
continues to
demonstrate a strong
cash position.

“

”
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Table 2 compares the portfolio at 30
June 2009 with the portfolio as
reported on 30 June 2008.

The Company’s Pre-2012 risk adjusted
portfolio fell by 7.8m CERs during the
year. The decline was the net result of
the CDM Executive Board rejection of a
number of coal mine methane projects
in China, abandonment of two waste
heat recovery coke sector projects and
a large hydro project, further risk
adjustment of a large N2O project (on
account of methodology issues). 

The portfolio was boosted by several
new contracts; the acquisition of CERs
from a number of new projects
including a hydro project and several
waste heat recovery projects in the
cement sector in China, and some new
projects in the Middle East and Latin
America.  

A substantial volume of CERs were
issued and delivered to the Company
during the year. The Company had
received 5.63m issued CERs as of 30
June 2009; with a further 0.67m CERs
as of the date of the report, taking
delivered volumes to 6.30m CERs. 

Set out in Table 3, as of the date of 
this report, the Company’s total risk
adjusted portfolio stands at 53.17m
CERs, with 42.10m CERs pre-2012 
(of which 6.30m CERs have been
delivered) and 11.07m CERs 
post-2012.

We continue to risk adjust all projected
deliveries as described in the previous
year end reports, with some
modifications to the parameters to
reflect a more conservative view of the
market.  This has the effect of slightly
lowering the weighted average risk
adjustment factor to 58% compared
with 59% at 30 June 2008, and
consequently, a small reduction in the
risk adjusted portfolio.  

A major achievement this year has
been the portfolio’s progress through
the CDM process, with a total of 74%

of the pre-2012 portfolio registered,
and a further 20% in validation or
registration, substantially improving the
risk profile of the Company’s portfolio.  

2 China

The principal focus of the China team
continues to be to advance the
progress of the Company’s CER
portfolio through the registration and
issuance process.  We have had some
success over the past year with eight
projects being successfully registered;
70% of the risk adjusted pre-2012
Chinese portfolio is now registered. 

As previously reported, the majority of
the Company’s waste heat recovery
projects were rejected by the CDM
Executive Board on the grounds of not
meeting the additionality criteria. A coal
mine methane project (Daning) was

Table 2: Variance analysis, comparing Table 1 with the reported portfolio at year
ended  30 June 2008

No. of Carbon Credits Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category B – Heads of terms -1,797,000 - -1,797,000

Category C – Contracted -6,037,000 1,461,000 -4,576,000

Total -7,834,000 1,461,000 -6,373,000

Of which delivered 3,710,000 - 3,710,000

Table 3: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for Categories B, C and delivered volumes
on the date of publication

No. of Carbon Credits Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category B – Heads of terms 853,000 497,000 1,350,000

Category C – Contracted 41,247,000 10,570,000 51,817,000

Total 42,100,000 11,067,000 53,167,000

Of which delivered 6,304,000 - 6,304,000

Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009
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also rejected. These losses account for
5.1m CERs from the risk-adjusted
portfolio. We do believe these projects
were of sufficient quality to have been
registered successfully, and are
considering their resubmission. The
Investment Adviser has also taken most
Project Design Document (PDD)
drafting work in house in an attempt to
better manage the quality of project
documentation. 

During the year the Company entered
into 21 new ERPAs.  However, the
market in China has slowed down
substantially since the financial crisis of
last autumn and since March 2009 only
one new ERPA has been executed. 

The unofficial floor price imposed by
the Chinese government and the
relatively low secondary CER price has
restricted the attractiveness of primary
purchase deals in China. There is also
uncertainty about whether targets,
either absolute or sectoral, would be
accepted by China under a post-2012
agreement, and how such targets
would impact on existing Chinese CDM
projects. The Chinese government has
not been supportive of project
companies signing contracts to sell
post-2012 CERs and it is widely
believed that the largest utilities (a main
source of CDM projects) may be
subject to domestic emission reduction
targets. As a result, purchasing post-
2012 CERs in China is becoming more
difficult. Furthermore, as 2012
approaches, the attractiveness of new
CDM projects declines. We also believe
that there may be US or EU restrictions
on the import of Chinese CERs from
some sectors post 2012.  We are 
de-emphasising the Company’s focus
in China post-2012 at this point and
looking for ways to hedge this
exposure. 

Significant delays still hamper progress
for all participants in the CDM. The
delays are both at Designated

Operational Entity (DOE) and UN level.
Addressing delays at the UN level is
difficult but at the DOE level we have
tried to spread the work across a larger
number of DOEs to avoid further
bottlenecks. So far, we have had
limited success in this area and it is
clear that a number of DOEs are yet to
improve their services. 

2.1 Natural Gas Projects

Three natural gas projects were
registered during the financial year
ending 30 June 2008. A fourth project
in Wuchang was registered in June
2009. The three registered projects
have performed as expected. The
verification of the first year of emissions
reductions from these projects is
progressing. 

2.2 Waste Heat Recovery from
Industrial Processes

We previously reported that the
Company is exploring opportunities to
resubmit the batch of rejected waste
heat recovery projects. The portfolio
includes a further seven waste heat
recovery projects which are currently
undergoing validation. Based on the
UN feedback on earlier projects, and
lessons learned, we believe the
remaining projects have a good chance
of successful registration. 

2.3 Coal Mine Methane

The Company currently has a portfolio
of eight Coal Mine Methane Projects.
Earlier this year, two were validated and
submitted for registration. One project,
Fengrun, was registered in April 2009;
despite the similarities, the second
project, Daning, was rejected by the
CDM Executive Board.  Both projects
were considered at the same CDM
Executive Board meeting and the
approval of one and rejection of the
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other highlights the inconsistency in the
decision making of the CDM Executive
Board. Four further projects are
progressing through validation, and we
expect two to be submitted for
registration shortly. 

2.4 Hydro

The Company currently has four
registered Chinese hydro projects,
including two projects acquired during
the last six months. The small hydro
project “Shimenping” received CERs for
the first time in January 2009 and its
second delivery in July 2009.  A further
ten hydro projects are undergoing
validation and we expect them to be
submitted for registration before March
2010.  Two projects have recently been
submitted for registration.

One of the largest losses from the
project pipeline during the year was the
loss of a large hydro project in Sichuan.

During the development of the project
documentation it became clear that
issues around additionality and local
migration would make it very difficult to
successfully register the project with
the UNFCCC. The loss of this project is
the most significant contributor to the
reduction in risk adjusted portfolio
figures this year.

2.5 Wind

The portfolio of wind projects continues
to perform in line with expectations.
However, there have been some delays
in CER issuance for a project in which
the actual project as implemented
deviated from what had been
described in the registered project
design document. The CDM Executive
Board has only recently published
guidance on dealing with such
situations and we are now working with
consultants and the DOEs to progress
the verification.    
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2.6 Umbrella Carbon Facility (UCF)

To date, the Company has received
3.7m CERs from two HFC destruction
projects through the World Bank UCF
of which 1.6m of these CERs were
delivered since June 2008.  This is in
line with delivery expectations.  The
projects continue to deliver at the
maximum allowable volume.

2.7 Biomass

As with the two wind projects
mentioned in section 2.5, the verifier of
the Luyi biomass project identified
some discrepancies between the
project as implemented and the
registered project design
documentation (“PDD”). Although the
differences do not have any material
impact on the validity of the project, the
process of providing the necessary
clarifications to the CDM Executive
Board has only recently been issued by

the UN. We expect this issue to be
resolved in the coming months. Two
further projects are making progress
through validation.

2.8 Nitrous oxide reduction 

The Company entered into an ERPA
with an adipic acid production facility in
China. The project would generate up
to four million CERs per year but
requires an amendment to the existing
methodology. Both the Investment
Adviser and other companies have
proposed a number of revisions to the
methodology, without success.  We
expect a decision in the forthcoming
UN climate change meeting in
Copenhagen where the CDM Executive
Board has requested the consideration
of such projects. The project is risk
adjusted to zero. 
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2.9 Equity investments

The Company is progressing with an
equity investment in a company which
provides vapour recovery units to the
oil and gas sector in China. The
technology is mature and the market
has received a significant boost
following recent environmental
legislation mandating the use of such
technology at fuel storage depots. The
technology captures volatile organic
compounds (VOCs) which are
significant local pollutants, causing
respiratory disease in particular. VOCs
also have an impact on global warming
although they are not one of the Kyoto
gases and therefore projects which
reduce VOC emissions will not
generate carbon credits. 

3 South East Asia

The Asia Biogas investments continue
to be the focus of the Company’s
activities in South East Asia amongst
other smaller deals being undertaken
and negotiated. 

The Company has invested a total of
£17m through the Asia Biogas
financing facility set up in 2006 and
through related investments, and as a
result has developed or acquired
approximately 40 projects. As a result
of unanticipated slow progress in
project development and CDM
registration, a lower amount than
originally earmarked has been drawn
down.  This has led to the Company’s
expected risk adjusted CER projections
to fall by 1.6m pre-2012, to 3.6m
CERs, however the remaining cash
facility has now become available for
other projects elsewhere in the world. 

3.1 Hacienda BioEnergy Company
(HBC) - Philippines 

The CDM aspects of this portfolio of
piggery projects have progressed

significantly during the last twelve
months. All but two of HBC’s first batch
of fifteen piggery projects have been
successfully registered, the final two are
expected to be registered shortly, after
being rejected and reviewed
respectively for technical reasons. A
second batch of projects is currently in
validation and will be submitted to the
CDM Executive Board later this year.
Further batches are expected to follow. 

The Host Nation Approval (HNA)
process in the Philippines has been
smooth and efficient. Most of the initial
projects are operating; the second
batch is being commissioned and
subsequent batches are expected to
become operational in the coming year.

3.2 Magallanes Bio-Energy (MBC) –
Philippines 

Construction of the first-of-its-kind
sewage waste water to energy project,
hosted on the Manila Water sewage
treatment site, is now complete and
being commissioned. This project has
already been registered as a CDM
project. 

3.3 Kalasin Waste to Energy
(Kalasin) - Thailand  

The Kalasin biogas project is
operational, although generating below
its expected rate as a result of reduced
waste water supply from the host
starch facility. Discussions are ongoing
with host management to bring the
project in line with its design
specification, and improve
performance.  The project has yet to
receive HNA from the Thai government,
which takes an extremely rigorous
approach to the implementation of
CDM projects. To advance this
process, we are applying a set of CDM
‘Gold Standard’ benchmark criteria.  

15
Piggery projects registered
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3.4 Swine Waste to Energy (SWTE)
- Thailand  

Like the HBC projects in the
Philippines, but on a larger scale,
SWTE has three piggery projects that
are operational and two new projects
due to come online shortly.  As with
Kalasin, extremely high standards are
required by the Thai government in
order to obtain a Letter of Approval.

3.5 Korat Waste to Energy (KWTE)
- Thailand  

Starch production is a cyclical industry
and following the end of a period of
reduced planting, the industry is now in
a period of high production, and thus
also of waste water and energy at
KWTE.   KWTE has recently initiated
verification for the two year period
following registration. CER volumes for
this period are significantly lower than
expected, principally as a result of
reduced starch production following
low root supply and high input prices.
CER delivery is expected by the end of
the year.

4 South America and Mexico

The Company’s existing investments in
South America and Mexico continue to
make good progress, including a highly
profitable exit (section 4.1) and the
completion of contracts earlier this year
for a new transaction in Mexico (see
4.5). The Investment Adviser boosted
its presence in Latin America by
opening an office in Lima, Peru in
January 2009.  The Company recently
entered into exclusive negotiations for
the acquisition of a registered and
operating CDM project and we look
forward to providing a further update
on this project as appropriate. 

4.1 Econergy International  

Econergy is a notable deal for the
Company during this reporting period,
being the first exit that the company
has made from a structured debt /
equity transaction to leverage CERs. 

The Company made a pre-IPO working
capital loan of US$4m available to
Econergy in 2005, due to be repaid in
CERs delivered from 2007 to 2013.
Following the takeover of Econergy by
Suez, Econergy elected to make early
repayment of its outstanding CER
volume. A termination delivery of
618,874 CERs was negotiated based
on the loan interest rate of 8% and the
outstanding volume (reducing the
nominal repayment by 180,400 CERs
as a result of avoided financing costs)
and CERs were delivered to the
Company on 2nd January 2009.  

Overall, the Company received a total
of 920,158 CERs in loan repayment
from Econergy, thus at a face value of
$4.35 / CER, or €3.33 / CER.  Based
on the market price of €13.32 / CER at
the time of exit, the CER element of the
transaction has yielded the Company
an annualised return of approximately
68% on capital.  

Prior to Econergy’s takeover by Suez,
the Company held 5,028,608 Econergy
shares; 2,305,608 purchased at IPO in
2006 and 2,723,000 purchased in
conjunction with TEP’s bid for Econergy
at a price of 30 pence. As part of the
takeover deal, Suez acquired all
Econergy shares held by the Company
at an offer price of 45 pence each in
November 2008.  

In addition, and at the time of the bid,
the Company made Econergy a
US$20m short term loan at a 7.695%
interest rate, which was repaid with a
US$900,000 interest and early
repayment fee later that year.
Combining all of the above elements,
the Company’s return on capital was an
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annualised 41% based on a price of
€13.32/CER at the time of exit. 

4.2 Bionasa – Brazil    

In 2007, the Company invested
approximately US$67m for a 25%
stake in the form of preferred stock in a
greenfield biodiesel project in the state
of Goias. The project consists of the
construction and operation of a
200,000 tonne per year multi-feedstock
biodiesel production facility. The plant is
being built under a turnkey engineering,
procurement and construction (“EPC”)
contract with a large industrial
manufacturing company that has
experience in the nascent biodiesel
industry in Brazil. The multi-feedstock
biodiesel technology applied was well
proven and has been implemented all
over the world. The project will utilise
tallow from slaughterhouses for half of
its feedstock demand in the first three
years, with the remainder coming from
soy and other vegetable oils. In the
fourth year, the project company shall
be self sufficient in feedstock supply
with the establishment of jatropha
plantations on the under-utilised cattle
grazing land. 

The plant is currently being prepared
for commissioning, commercial
operation is due to commence in the
beginning of 2010. This represents a
one year delay from the anticipated
start-up date envisaged in the initial
business plan.  As a result, Bionasa
was unable to make payment of the
preferred stock coupon payment due
to the Company in August 2009. The
unpaid amount is subject to conversion
into additional ordinary shares. The
biodiesel market in Brazil remains very
attractive for Bionasa with the Brazilian
government´s volume target expected
to be increased to 5% in January 2010.

4.3 Santa Rita – Peru  

The Company’s 251 MW hydro project
in Peru has advanced well this year.
The project is now fully permitted, with
an approved Environmental Impact
Assessment, Generation Concession,
Transmission Concession and
statement of lack of archaeological
remains, and Electricidad Andina, the
project company, is now progressing
with the final construction permits and
easements which are required to initiate
work on site. This progress has
substantially reduced the project risk
and made Santa Rita among the most
advanced large hydro projects in Peru.  

Civil work, electromechanical
equipment and transmission costs are
fully elaborated, with a maximum level
set through negotiations with
contractors, and all ongoing effort on
these items is being undertaken with a
view to optimising the design and
negotiating cost savings.  The project is
now in a position to advance
discussions with third parties interested
to co-invest in construction equity, or to
provide debt finance. The project is in
validation.

4.4 Escalona - Mexico    

In October 2007, the Company
provided a loan for working capital
purposes to a small hydro project in the
State of Veracruz, Mexico, under
development with Energia Escalona, a
local project development business. A
secured loan amount of US$500,000
was made available with repayment
due in CERs from the project before 31
December 2012. The project is a 9.3
MW run-of-river hydro project that has
completed EPC contracts, and closed
its equity funding with LEAF Clean
Energy Company, a company for which
the Investment Adviser also acts. The
project is expected to start commercial
operation in January 2011. 
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20%
US requires energy from renewable
sources by 2020 
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The Company will receive 35,000 CERs
per year which in the first instance will
be delivered in service of the debt and
interest; once the debt has been repaid
in full all remaining CERs will be
purchased under ERPA. The approval
letters from both the Mexican and the
UK governments have been obtained
and validation should be finalised soon.
We expect that the project will be
registered with the CDM prior to
completion.  

4.5 Dairy farm finance facility –
Mexico    

On 20th April 2009, the Company
signed an agreement with
Environmental Credit Corp (ECC – see
section 5.2) making available a carbon
loan facility of up to $5m to build
biodigesters on a number of dairy
farms in Mexico. The transaction is
expected to yield the Company a gross
volume of 750,000 CERs by 2015
through carbon loan repayments and
under ERPA.  So far, ECC has signed
several agreements with major dairy
farms and is in advanced negotiations
with a dozen additional farms. In July
2009, the first loan disbursement was
made and construction activities have
already been initiated. ECC expects the
first biodigesters to be operational by
November 2009. 

Some of the farms under contract are
planning to use the carbon revenues to
install a second phase of power
generation equipment, the others will
simply flare the methane-rich biogas.
The CDM process has been started
and registration is expected to occur in
the third quarter of 2010.

5 North America

The House of Representatives made
bold progress this June with the
acceptance of the American Clean
Energy Security Act which is initially

expected to cover installations emitting
6 billion tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions annually, equal to
66% of the economy, rising to 85% by
2016. The Act requires emitters to
reduce greenhouse gases by 17%
below 2005 levels by 2020. 

The Act also includes provision for a
Renewable Energy Standard requiring
20% of energy to come from renewable
sources by 2020, creates the concept
of a Green Energy Bank with initial
funding of US$7.5 billion and will
require energy efficiency measures and
performance standards for emitters
remaining outside the scheme, such as
coal mines and landfills. 

The Act envisages the full fungibility of
international allowances (such as EU
Allowances) with domestic allowances,
currently without usage limitations, only
with the requirement that international
programmes are at least as stringent as
the US programme.  Use of
international offset credits is also
envisaged, provided the US has a
bilateral agreement with the host
country; CERs are specifically
permissible with some limitations on
project type and the bill makes
reference to a potential move towards a
sectoral CDM approach in some of the
most advanced emerging markets. 

At the time of publication, a key
determinant of both the pace of
expansion of the US carbon market,
and the US negotiation mandate at the
Copenhagen climate change summit in
December, is the progress of the Act
through the Senate. The Act is due to
be presented to the Senate in 
October 2009.

We believe the Company’s investments
in North America give the Company an
excellent position both in the domestic
offset (Environmental Credit Corp – see
5.2) and the renewable energy, GHG
offset and traded markets (Element
Markets – see 5.1) in what has the
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potential to be an exponentially 
growing market. 

5.1 Element Markets LCC    

The Company converted its
participation in Element Markets LCC’s
Emission Credit investment vehicle,
“Inland Gas and Electric, L.P.” (IGE) to a
minority equity share in Element
Markets. The transaction was
completed on 17th October 2008 with
the Company’s investment in IGE
valued at US$24.7m (having initially
contributed US$20m in cash) and a
further US$10m cash injected as equity
in Element Markets.  

Proceeds are being used by Element
Markets to continue to expand its
environmental markets business,
particularly in the North American GHG
sector, with a focus on the Regional
Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), the
Climate Action Reserve and the
Voluntary Carbon Standard. Element
Markets is also active in development
of renewable energy and greenhouse
gas reduction projects, including
methane capture, solar, wind and
biomass. Recent successes include
entering into a solar development
agreement with the largest public U.S.
real estate company, Simon Property
Group, the completion of methane
capture projects that are actively
producing GHG reductions and the
completion of site control for the
development of over 500 MW of wind
energy projects in Coastal Texas 
and Illinois. 

5.2 Environmental Credit Corp
(ECC)    

ECC has continued to grow its project
pipeline and R&D capability, and has
successfully executed contracts for
approximately 900,000 emission
reductions per year in the US markets.
Of these, approximately 27% are from

agricultural projects.  Within the last
year, ECC has completed 11
agricultural lagoon projects from which
registered credits have been issued on
eight projects. In addition, ECC has
contracted further 10 projects
representing an annual yield of
approximately 365,000 annual tonnes
of emission reductions.  Since inception
ECC has successfully registered
936,000 tonnes of emission reductions
with the Chicago Climate Exchange
(CCX) from projects in the US
agriculture, landfill, methane avoidance,
Ozone Depleting Substances and
energy efficiency sectors, as well as
Brazilian agriculture and energy
efficiency projects.

The Company made a convertible loan
available to ECC of US$1.5m during
the year.  The loan carries an interest
rate of 15% per annum.  Loan
proceeds are being used by ECC to
develop a series of agricultural biogas
projects in Mexico for CER origination
(see section 4.5).  ECC has executed
contracts for 5 agricultural methane
projects representing approximately
35,000 CERs per year.

6 Middle East, Africa and other
regions

With a view to enhancement of the
regional diversification of its carbon
portfolio, the Company has continued
to explore and develop project
opportunities in the Middle East and
Northern Africa region (MENA). Projects
and investments in other regions are
also covered in this section. 

6.1 EcoTraders – Israel     

The Company invested €1.23m for a
25% equity shareholding in EcoTraders
Ltd, an Israeli CDM development
company, at the beginning of 2008. In
addition, the Company made available
a €1.5m carbon loan facility, repayable
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in carbon credits which EcoTraders
expects to receive as part of their CDM
development fees. The funds are to be
used to finance its business
development and expansion, both in
Israel and abroad. Since the
investment, EcoTraders has focused on
establishing its operations and building
a highly qualified CDM project
management team. EcoTraders
currently employs seven staff, including
the Chairman and the CEO. The
company has also made good
progress with the development of its
CDM portfolio - seven projects have
been registered and are expected to
generate a total of 400,000 CERs per
year; three of these projects are in
issuance resulting in EcoTrader’s first
revenues from success fees. 

EcoTraders has also added new
projects to its portfolio and pipeline,
primarily in the natural gas power
generation, solar, wind and landfill gas
sectors. Furthermore, EcoTraders has
started assessing the project potential
in Eastern Europe and Central Asia &
the Caucasus with a view to expanding
its business outside of Israel.

6.2 Hadera Paper fuel switch
project - Israel    

In March 2009, the Company signed
an ERPA with a small-scale heavy fuel
oil (HFO) to natural gas (NG) fuel switch
project at the Hadera Paper
manufacturing site. The project was
implemented in October 2007.
EcoTraders completed the CDM
development and successfully
registered the project with the CDM
Executive Board in April 2008. The
estimated annual CER volume is
30,000; the first 27,207 CERs covering
the period May 2008 to the end of
March 2009 were issued and delivered
in September 2009.

6.3 Amman East – Jordan    

In November 2008, the Company
successfully closed its first transaction
in Jordan. The Company signed an
ERPA with NEPCO, the Jordanian
public transmission and distribution
company, for the acquisition of the
CERs generated from the Amman East
380MW CCGT Natural Gas Power
Plant, a power plant built and operated
as an Independent Power Producer
project. The first construction stage of
the single cycle plant was completed
and commissioned in August 2008.
The second stage (combined cycle)
was commissioned in July 2009. Under
the power purchase agreement, any
CERs generated by the project will be
transferred to NEPCO. 

The PDD was completed in July 2009
and submitted for validation. Following
the Global Stakeholder Process, the
validation site visit is expected to take
place in October this year. The
estimated average annual CER volume
is 124,000 CERs. This number is
substantially lower than the original
estimate of between 600,000 and
800,000 CERs per annum. This is
primarily due to a lower than originally
assumed grid emission factor for
Jordan, which is the result of an
increased use of natural gas for power
generation in Jordan over the past 
few years. 

6.4 Durban - eThekwini Landfill –
South Africa   

The Company announced that it had
entered into an ERPA with the
eThekwini municipality in November
2008, to purchase CERs from a 3MW
landfill gas to energy project in Durban.
The project is now registered and
operating. The performance of the
project has been good so far, and it is
on target to deliver as projected.
Expected volumes stand at 1.1m CERs

1.1m
Expected CERs from South African
landfill



Trading Emissions plc Report and Accounts 2009   27

gross and 0.85m CERs risk adjusted.
Preparation for an initial verification is
being finalised in order to ensure that
the project monitoring plan is
implemented correctly and to ensure
the smooth verification and issuance 
of CERs.

6.5 Sun Biofuels (SBF) –
Mozambique and Tanzania     

The Company’s investment in Sun
Biofuels is progressing. SBF has
planted 1,000 hectares of land in
Mozambique and plans to plant a
further 1,500 - 2,000 hectares during
the next planting season. Growth at the
planted area has been described as 

very encouraging by management. SBF
has also acquired full title to 8,000
hectares of land in Tanzania on a 99
year lease.  The project has received
full approval for the Environmental
Impact Assessment, the final step
required to allow land preparation
operations to begin.  Land acquisition
in Tanzania is a complex process,
particularly exacerbated by the “land
grab” and “food – fuel” debates
surrounding the industry. SBF has been
able to allay fears that currently
redundant land that has been badly
damaged by local charcoal producers
will have anything but a positive impact
on the local population and is one of
the only biofuel businesses in the
country to have progressed to this
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stage of development. Preparations are
now underway to plant 1,000 hectares
of this site during the next season, and
work is being planned to improve the
very poor local infrastructure. 

6.6 Carbon Capital Markets (CCM)
– UK     

Subsequent to actions taken by the
Company to acquire control of CCM,
the cost base has been reduced to the
extent that the business is close to
breaking even, and expects to return to
profit next year. 

The business experienced increased
cost of sales, as a result of write downs
totalling £3m in the value of a related
party’s primary CER contracts and the
value of interests carried in several
development projects.  Costs
associated with hedging and
speculative positions also increased
during the year and mark to market
expenses as a result of the company
being a net borrower of CERs. During
the year the company earned a total of
£1.2m from its investment
management and service contracts.

CCM continues to hold a minority
interest in a wind company with
operating assets in Brazil, and during
the year acquired an interest in a
second wind development company. In
the last 12 months, CCM also
completed the construction of a landfill
gas flaring project in the Ukraine which
is now operational and proceeding well
through the Joint Implementation
process.

7 CER Commercialisation and
Trading

As of the date of this report, the
Company has built a risk adjusted
portfolio of 42.1m CERs for delivery
pre-2012.  It is important to differentiate
between commercialisation activities

(secondary trading activities which
result in the net sale of CERs, with the
effect of reducing the size of the unsold
portfolio, effectively hedging the
Company’s forward position) and
trading activities (activities which do not
alter the Company’s overall CER
position, but generate cash or
favourably adjust the composition of
the portfolio). 

As of the date of the report, the
Company had commercialised (sold or
hedged) a total of 10.7m CERs
(approximately 26% of the pre-2012
portfolio). Broken down, 19% of the
portfolio has been hedged and not
settled, this includes all forward looking
futures transactions, including the sale
of options) and 7% has been sold or
swapped and delivered. The
Company’s forward sales are projected
to generate revenues of more than
approximately £82m over the period to
December 2012. The majority of these
transactions were completed more than
12 months ago and the Company has
engaged in limited commercialisation
activity with the view that prices will
strengthen over the coming years at a
rate greater than the Company’s cost
of capital.  The Company has also
purchased from the secondary market
for trading purposes. 

In addition to these commercialisation
activities, the Company maintains a
small proprietary trading book, to
support trading positions independently
from the Company’s “long” CER
position and portfolio management
objectives. 

Credit standing and availability of free
cash remain significant determinants of
a market participant’s ability to
participate efficiently in the secondary
CER and EUA markets. The Company
has been selective in dealing with
counterparties having predominantly
only sold CERs to European
Governments and traded through the
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European Climate Exchange.
Commercialisation and Trading
activities are summarised below. 

7.1 UK Government Carbon Offset
Fund     

The Company has fulfilled its contract
obligation to deliver the UK
Government 305,000 CERs from highly
sustainable small scale renewable
energy and energy efficiency projects,
prior to the delivery deadline of 30th
April 2009.  The contract was worth
£3.0m. 

7.2 Sale to a European
Government     

The Company sold 700,000 CERs at
an average price of €15.35 per CER to
a European Government in November
2008. The transaction was governed
by an ISDA long form confirmation. The
sale was completed in December 2008
realising over €10m. 

7.3 Exchange and other Bilateral
Transactions    

Speculation on the length of the EU
Emissions Trading Scheme has put
downward pressure on the market prior
to the date of publication. The spot
market (Bluenext) has lost some
liquidity, partly as a result of VAT issues
in France. Much of the Company’s
activity continues to be inventory and
cash optimisation, particularly
swapping non Chinese, non-HFC CERs
for HFC plus a premium – since we
remain of the view that the Company
should not be a net seller at current
prices.

As previously reported, the Company
has taken advantage of arbitrage
opportunities presented as a result of
the “backwardation” trend whereby
CERs for spot delivery were (for a

period of time) trading at a higher price
than for future delivery. At the same
time, the market unusually displayed a
small positive difference between the
price of a CER for December 2009
delivery versus the price for delivery in
December 2012 (i.e. a flat cost of carry
curve). 

Thus, in the first half of 2009, the
Company sold its HFC-23 inventory on
the spot market and simultaneously
bought CERs back on the futures
market for receipt in December 2009,
at a lower price. The market is now
back in “contango” (an upward sloping
forward curve) and this trade made the
Company approximately €0.40 / CER
on a volume of 1m CERs.

In addition, and on the basis of the
view that the cost of carry as reflected
by market prices was unusually low, the
Company sold CERs for delivery in
December 2009 and re-purchased the
same amount in December 2012.
Since this transaction the cost of carry
has risen six fold. 

The Company continues to actively
adjust the composition of its portfolio
through CER swaps between HFC-23
destruction CERs, which are the most
common units for an exchange traded
transaction settlement, and non-
Chinese, non HFC CERs, which can
attract a premium of up to €1 per
CER. For example, the Company
received 700,000 CERs from KWTE
biogas project in Thailand, which were
swapped for HFC CERs plus €1
premium. The HFC CERs received
were later sold on the exchange
following a rally in prices.

The Company normally uses HFC
CERs to settle exchange positions.  All
other CERs are ranked in order of their
ability to attract a premium (highly
correlated with their perceived
sustainable development value and
provenance) and traded accordingly. 
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Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)
Results for the year ended 30 June 2009

During a time period of low market prices earlier this year,
the Company wrote out-of-the-money “call options” (giving
the counterparty the right but not the obligation to purchase
CERs from the Company at an agreed date in the future at a
price much higher than the current market price). Since
market volatility has been high, the premium paid in advance
was also high; the Company wrote 1.6m CERs call options
for 2009-2012 with strike prices between €16 and €20 per
CER and a premium on the date of issue of between €1.00
and €1.10 per CER.  

The Company has completed several purchase transactions
for secondary CERs, on a forward and spot basis.  Both
renewable energy and non-Chinese CERs have been
purchased for a small premium, and the Company
purchased HFC-23 destruction CERs at €7.97 per CER via

the exchange. The Company also purchased 10 contracts of
CCX (Chicago Climate Exchange) financial carbon at a unit
price of US$0.90.  We expect the Company to become
more active in US market trading.   

EEA Fund Management Limited
Investment Adviser
30 September 2009
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and
accounts for the year ended 30 June
2009.

Principal activities, trading review
and future developments    

Trading Emission PLC (the "Company")
was incorporated in the Isle of Man as
a public limited company on 15 March
2005 for the purpose of investing in
environmental and emission assets,
companies providing products and
services related to the reduction of
green house gas (GHG) emissions and
associated financial products.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries
at the balance sheet date and at the
date of this report are disclosed in 
note 16.

Results and dividends    

The Group's results for the year ended
30 June 2009 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on
page 36.

A review of the Company’s activities is
contained within the Chairman's
Statement and the Investment
Adviser's Report on pages 10 and 15
respectively. 

The Directors paid an interim dividend
per share of 1.5p in respect of the 
year ended 30 June 2009 (30 June
2008: nil). 

The Board has recommended a final
dividend of 3.0 pence per share, which
subject to approval by the Company in
the general meeting, would be paid in
January 2010. If approved, this will
represent a total dividend for the year
of 4.5 pence per share.

Directors    

The Directors of the Company during
the year and to date were as follows:

N D Eckert
M J Gillies
B Rassool
P P Scales
N H Wood
C P A Vanderpump (appointed 6
November 2008)

The following Directors had interests 
in the shares of the Company as at 
30 June.

Company Secretary     

The secretary of the Company
throughout the year and to date was 
P P Scales.

Auditors   

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
have indicated their willingness to
continue in office in accordance with
section 12(2) of the Companies Act
1982.

Post balance sheet events   

For a summary of significant
transactions entered into by the Group
subsequent to 30 June 2009 see note
36 in the financial statements. 

By Order of the Board
Nigel Wood
30 September 2009

N D Eckert 1,818,300 1,773,300 

M J Gillies 66,707 21,707

2009
Ordinary 

shares

2008
Ordinary 

shares
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report
and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law.

Company law requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each
financial year. 

Under that law the Directors have
elected to prepare the Group and
Parent Company financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union. The
financial statements are required by law
to give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss of the
Group for that period. 

In preparing those financial statements,
the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently;

- make judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;

- state that the financial statements
comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, subject to any
material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the
Company and the Group will continue
in business.

The Directors confirm that they have
complied with the above requirements
in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for
keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and the
Group and to enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply
with the Isle of Man Companies Acts
1931 to 2004. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets

of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the
Company's website. Legislation in the
Isle of Man governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions. 

By Order of the Board
Nigel Wood
30 September 2009
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Directors recognise the value of the
Principles of Good Governance and
Code of Best Practice as set out in the
Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (the Combined Code) and
although the Company is not obliged
by the rules of the Alternative
Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange to do so, the Board intends
to take appropriate measures to ensure
that the Company complies with the
Combined Code to the extent
appropriate taking into account the size
of the Company and the nature of 
its business.

The Board directs the Company's
activities in an effective manner through
its regular Board meetings and
monitors performance through timely
and relevant reporting procedures.

The members of the Board, all of
whom are non-executive, meet more
regularly than is usual for a company of
this size as investment
recommendations are currently agreed
at Board meetings. In addition to formal
Board and Committee meetings,
Directors also attend a number of
informal meetings to represent the
Company's interests.

The Board has established an Audit
Committee but does not consider it
necessary to have separate nomination
or remuneration committees. Matters
relating to nominations and
remuneration are now dealt with at
regular Board meetings. Nigel Wood is
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee    

The Audit Committee is a sub-
committee of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board which
retains the right of final decision. The
Audit Committee has primary
responsibility for reviewing the financial
statements and the accounting policies,
principles and practices underlying
them, liaising with the external auditors

and reviewing the effectiveness of
internal controls.

The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee cover the following:

• The composition of the Committee,
quorum and who else attends
meetings.

• Appointment and duties of the
Chairman.

• Duties in relation to external reporting,
including reviews of financial
statements, shareholder
communications and other
announcements.

• Duties in relation to the external
auditors, including appointment /
dismissal, approval of fees,
discussion of the audit.

Nigel Wood
Chairman, Audit Committee
30 September 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Trading Emissions plc

Report on the consolidated and
parent company financial
statements    

We have audited the accompanying
consolidated and parent company
financial statements (‘the financial
statements’) of Trading Emissions plc
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) which
comprise the Consolidated and Parent
Company Balance Sheets as of 30
June 2009 and the Consolidated
Income Statement, Consolidated and
Parent Company Statements of
Changes in Equity and Consolidated
and Parent Company Cash Flow
Statements for the year then ended
and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.  

Directors’ responsibility for the
financial statements    

The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements in
accordance with applicable Isle of Man
law and International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditors’ responsibility    

Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report,
including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the

company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 15 of the Isle
of Man Companies Act 1982 and for
no other purpose.  We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on
Auditing. Those Standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing
procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control.  An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion. 
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Opinion    

In our opinion:

• the accompanying consolidated
financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of
the Group as of 30 June 2009, and
of its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union;

• the Parent Company financial
statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the parent
company as of 30 June 2009, and its
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union as
applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Isle of Man
Companies Act 1982; and

• the financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with
the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931
to 2004.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Isle of Man
30 September 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement 

Year ended
30 June 2009

£'000

Note Year ended
30 June 2008

£'000

8 Revenue 46,099 4,014
Other income 533 218
Net change in inventory at fair value less costs to sell (49,097) 19,616

11 Net change in fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (213,894) 218,272
Employee benefits expense (3,665) (1,314)

7 Impairment charges (7,650) (3,108)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,417) (700)

5 Investment advisory fees (7,182) (8,947)
5 Performance fees 1,494 (40,487)
5 Administration and custodian fees (440) (535)

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 7,569 (292)
9 Other expenses (10,446) (5,365)

Operating (loss)/profit (238,096) 181,372

Finance income 5,948 12,765
Finance costs (25) (94)

Finance income - net 5,923 12,671

(Loss)/profit before tax (232,173) 194,043

10 Income tax credit/(expense) 3,583 (5,624)

(Loss)/profit after tax (228,590) 188,419

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (228,697) 188,980
Minority interest 107 (561)

(228,590) 188,419

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company during the year (expressed in pence per share)

25 Basic and diluted per ordinary share (83.80) 70.29

25 Basic and diluted per C share - 16.49

The notes on pages 41 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets 

The notes on pages 41 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 36 to 89 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 30 September 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

N H Wood C P A Vanderpump
Director Director

As at 30 June 2009Note
Group
£'000

Company
£'000

As at 30 June 2008
Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Assets
Non-current assets

14 Intangible assets 3,595 - 3,436 -
15 Property, plant and equipment 14,873 - 10,742 -
16 Investment in subsidiaries - 50,614 - 41,830
11 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 158,569 89,294 415,984 348,904
13 Loans and receivables 174 41,981 10,091 38,900
18 Trade and other receivables 13 1,479 - 648
17 Restricted cash 38,851 38,851 42,307 42,307

216,075 222,219 482,560 472,589

Current assets
11 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 59,361 55,899 52,913 52,895
13 Loans and receivables 22 - 1,218 1,341
18 Trade and other receivables 10,865 6,821 27,305 26,261
19 Inventory at fair value less costs to sell 46,352 43,333 31,734 26,258
17 Cash and cash equivalents 125,605 117,853 84,529 77,047
17 Restricted cash 13,661 1,427 19,803 19,803

255,866 225,333 217,502 203,605

Liabilities
Current liabilities

20 Trade and other payables (15,515) (16,085) (45,832) (44,485)
17 Cash margin payable to broker (17,843) (17,843) - -
21 Borrowings (263) - (192) -
11 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (21,801) (3,646) (8,656) (8,319)

Current income tax liabilities (768) - - -
22 Provisions for liabilities and charges - - (1,653) (1,556)

(56,190) (37,574) (56,333) (54,360)

Net current assets 199,676 187,759 161,169 149,245

Non current liabilities
20 Trade and other payables (28,591) (28,531) (126) -
21 Borrowings (57) - (192) -
11 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (654) - (2,374) -
23 Deferred income tax liabilities (2,166) - (5,548) -

(31,468) (28,531) (8,240) -

Net assets 384,283 381,447 635,489 621,834

Financed by:
Capital and reserves

26 Share capital 2,551 2,551 2,800 2,800
27 Share premium 297,061 297,061 297,061 297,061
29 Capital redemption reserve 319 319 70 70
29 Retained earnings 77,728 81,516 331,929 321,903
29 Translation reserve 6,170 - 2,786 -

Total shareholders' equity 383,829 381,447 634,646 621,834

Minority interest 454 - 843 -

Total equity 384,283 381,447 635,489 621,834
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

£'000

Other
reserves

£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000

Translation
reserve

£'000

Total

£'000

Minority
interest

£'000

Total 
equity
£'000

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Balance at 1 July 2007 3,100 296,831 - 154,868 (761) 454,038 151 454,189

Profit for the year - - - 188,980 - 188,980 (561) 188,419

Loss on acquisition 
(note 35) - - - (1,952) - (1,952) - (1,952)

Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
operations - - - - 3,547 3,547 (24) 3,523

Total recognised 
income and expense - - - 187,028 3,547 190,575 (585) 189,990

Dividend paid - - - - - - (84) (84)

Share conversion (230) 230 - - - - - -

Purchase of own 
shares (note 26) (70) - 70 (9,967) - (9,967) - (9,967)

Minority interests arising 
on business combinations - - - - - - 1,361 1,361

Balance at 30 June 2008 2,800 297,061 70 331,929 2,786 634,646 843 635,489

Loss for the year - - - (228,697) - (228,697) 107 (228,590)

Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
operations - - - - 3,384 3,384 54 3,438

Total recognised 
income and expense - - - (228,697) 3,384 (225,313) 161 (225,152)

Dividend paid (note 28) - - - (4,058) - (4,058) (123) (4,181)

Purchase of own shares 
(note 26) (249) - 249 (21,446) - (21,446) - (21,446)

Dilution of minority interest - - - - - - (369) (369)

Buyout of minority interest - - - - - - (58) (58)

Balance at 30 June 2009 2,551 297,061 319 77,728 6,170 383,829 454 384,283

The notes on pages 41 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity 

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000

Total
equity
£'000

Balance at 1 July 2007 3,100 296,831 - 155,191 455,122

Profit for the year - - - 176,679 176,679

Total recognised income - - - 176,679 176,679

Share conversion (230) 230 - - -
Purchase of own 
shares (note 26) (70) - 70 (9,967) (9,967)

Balance at 30 June 2008 2,800 297,061 70 321,903 621,834

Loss for the year - - - (214,883) (214,883)

Total recognised expense - - - (214,883) (214,883)

Dividend paid (note 28) - - - (4,058) (4,058)
Purchase of own shares 
(note 26) (249) - 249 (21,446) (21,446)

Balance at 30 June 2009 2,551 297,061 319 81,516 381,447

The notes on pages 41 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements

The notes on pages 41 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Year Ended 
30 June 2009

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Year Ended 
30 June 2008

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the year (228,590) (214,883) 188,419 176,679
Adjustment for:
- interest income (5,948) (5,842) (11,563) (11,501)
- dividend income - (1,776) (1,166) (1,701)
- tax (credit) / expense (3,583) (90) 5,624 74
- depreciation and amortisation 1,417 - 700 -
- exchange (gains)/losses (7,569) (8,445) 292 318
- impairment charge 7,650 1,577 3,108 5,967
Changes in working capital:
Net decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 246,640 256,454 (270,071) (217,638)
Net increase in inventory at fair value less 
costs to sell (12,735) (12,467) (25,095) (16,667)
Net increase in financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (1,822) 2,977 11,030 8,319
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (4,922) (10,244) 16,767 16,733
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 14,629 14,971 (21,291) (20,988)
Tax paid (154) - - -
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 5,013 22,232 (103,246) (60,405)

Interest received 5,504 6,261 11,026 10,846
Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities 10,517 28,493 (92,220) (49,559)

Cash flows from investing activities
Movement in restricted cash 23,448 35,671 (12,314) (12,314)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 20,106 (5,672) (3,490) (36,040)
Purchase of minority interest in subsidiary (438) - - -
Purchase of intangible assets (197) - (34) -
Loans granted to subsidiaries - (9,845) - (16,644)
Loans granted to third parties (162) - (11,023) (11,463)
Loans repaid by third parties 10,965 10,039 307 307
Loans repaid by subsidiaries - 1,188 - -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 177 - - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,630) - (4,004) -
Dividends received 600 600 - -
Net cash generated by/(used in) 
investing activities 49,869 31,981 (30,558) (76,154)

Financing activities
Purchase of own shares (note 26) (21,446) (21,446) (9,967) (9,967)
Dividends paid to company shareholders (4,058) (4,058) - -
Dividends paid to minority interests (123) - (84) -
(Repayment of )/proceeds from borrowings (64) - 384 -
Net cash used in financing activities (25,691) (25,504) (9,667) (9,967)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 34,695 34,970 (132,445) (135,680)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 84,529 77,047 216,827 212,358
Exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents 6,381 5,836 147 369

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
the year (note 17) 125,605 117,853 84,529 77,047
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Operations

Trading Emissions plc (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries
(together ‘the Group’) invest in environmental and emissions
assets, companies providing products and services related
to reduction of green house gas (GHG) emissions and
associated financial products. The Company also aims to
provide shareholders with opportunities to invest in
environmental ventures that offer potential returns with a
view to the realisation of each investment through future
trade sale, flotation or other exit route.

The Company is a closed-ended investment company
domiciled in the Isle of Man and the address of its registered
office is 3rd Floor, Exchange House, 54-62 Athol Street,
Douglas, Isle of Man.   It was incorporated on 15 March
2005 in the Isle of Man as a public limited company and is
quoted on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) operated
and regulated by the London Stock Exchange.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. 

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(‘IFRS’), IFRIC interpretations and the Isle of Man Companies
Acts 1931-2004. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) and inventory at fair value
through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires the directors to exercise their judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the financial statements are disclosed in note 4. 

As permitted by Section 3 of the Isle of Man Companies Act
1982, the Company has not presented its separate income
statement. The amount of the Company’s loss for the

financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the
Group is £214,883,000 (2008: profit £176,679,000).  

The IFRSs applied in the preparation of these financial
statements are those that were effective at 30 June 2009.
New standards and interpretations to existing standards that
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group but are likely to have an impact on the future financial
statements are:

IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’; IFRS 8 requires the Group to
disclose such information to enable the user of the financial
statements to understand the nature and financial effects of
the business activities in which it engages and, where
appropriate, the economic environments.  IFRS 8 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The
application of IFRS 8 in the current year would not have
affected the balance sheet or income statement as the
standard is concerned only with disclosure.  The Group will
apply IFRS 8 from 1 July 2009 subject to EU endorsement.

IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing Costs’. The amendment
requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of the asset.
The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs
will be removed.  The Group has already elected to capitalise
borrowing costs and hence the amendment will not have an
impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

IAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’.  IAS 1
(Revised) is effective from 1 January 2009. The revised
standard will prohibit the presentation of items of income
and expenses (that is, ‘non owner changes in equity’) in the
statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner
changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity will be
required to be shown in a performance statement but
entities can choose whether to present one performance
statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or two
statements (the income statement and statement of
comprehensive income). The revised IAS 1 also states that
entities making restatements or reclassifications of
comparative information will be required to present a
restated balance sheet as at the beginning of the
comparative period in addition to the current requirement to
present balance sheets at the end of the current period and
comparative period.

The Group will apply IAS 1 (Revised) from 1 July 2009.  It is
likely that the Group will present an income statement and
statement of comprehensive income.
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IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’ is effective for accounting periods starting on or
after 1 July 2009 with no comparatives for the first year of
application.   IAS 27 (Revised) requires the effects of all
transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in
equity if there is no change in control. They will no longer
result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also
specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining
interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value and a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.  The Group will apply
the amendment from 1 July 2009. 

Amendment to IFRS 7- Financial instruments: Disclosures, is
effective for accounting periods starting on or after 1 January
2009 with no comparatives for the first year of application.
The amendment increases the disclosure requirements
about fair value measurement and reinforces existing
principles for disclosure about liquidity risk. The amendment
introduces a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement
disclosure and requires some specific quantitative
disclosures for financial instruments in the lowest level in the
hierarchy. In addition, the amendment clarifies and enhances
existing requirements for the disclosure of liquidity risk
primarily requiring a separate liquidity risk analysis for
derivative and non-derivative financial liabilities. The Group
will apply the amendment from 1 July 2009 subject to
endorsement.

IFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business Combinations’ is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and is
therefore mandatory for the Group's accounting period
beginning on 1 July 2009.  IFRS 3 (Revised) continues to
apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with
some significant changes. For example, all payments to
purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the
acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt
subsequently re-measured through the income statement.
There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to
measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related
costs should be expensed. The Group will apply IFRS 3
(Revised) prospectively to all business combinations from 1
July 2009.

IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1
January 2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2008. The definition
of borrowing costs has been amended so that interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method
defined in IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement’. This eliminates the inconsistency of terms
between IAS 39 and IAS 23. The Group will apply the IAS 23

(Amendment) prospectively to the capitalisation of borrowing
costs on qualifying assets from 1 July 2009.

IAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’ (effective from 1
January 2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2008. Where fair
value less costs to sell is calculated on the basis of
discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those for
value-in-use calculation should be made. The Group will apply
the IAS 28 (Amendment) and provide the required disclosure
where applicable for impairment tests from 1 July 2009.

IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’
(effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment is part of
the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May
2008. The amendment clarifies that some rather than all
financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in
accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement’ are examples of current assets and
liabilities respectively. The Group will apply the IAS 39
(Amendment) from 1 July 2009. It is not expected to have an
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the results
of the Company and its subsidiaries as set out in note 16. 

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair
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value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s financial statements investments in
subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.  Cost is
measured as the fair value of the consideration given to
acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings.

The Company performs a review of its investments in
subsidiaries on a semi-annual basis to determine whether
there have been any impairment trigger events. If such a
trigger event is noted then the recoverable amount of the
asset, or where appropriate group of assets, in cash
generating units that comprise the investment is estimated
and compared to the carrying amount of the asset.
Recoverable amount is the higher of the value in use to the
Company of the asset and the net realisable value from
disposal of the asset. Value in use is estimated by calculating
the net present value of the estimated future cash flows
relating to the cash generating units that comprise the
investment after applying a discount factor. Net realisable
value is estimated by applying the knowledge and
experience of the Company's investment adviser, and the
directors, together with external market indicators. If the
recoverable amount is below the carrying value of the asset
then the carrying value of the asset is reduced to
recoverable amount, and the resulting charge is taken to the
income statement.

(b) Transactions and minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and
losses for the Group that are recorded in the income
statement. Purchases from minority interests result in
goodwill, being the difference between any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of
net assets of the subsidiary.

(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a

shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments that are held as part of the Group's investment
portfolio are carried in the balance sheet at fair value even
though the Group may have significant influence over those
companies. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28, which
requires investments held by mutual funds and similar
entities to be excluded from its scope where those
investments are designated, upon initial recognition, at fair
value through profit or loss and accounted for in accordance
with IAS 39, with changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement in the period of change.

2.3 Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing investments and returns that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
other business segments. The directors are of the opinion
that the Group is engaged in a single business segment
being investing in interests in a portfolio of environmental
ventures. 

The Group's secondary reporting format for reporting
segmental information is geographic segments.  A
geographical segment is engaged in providing products or
services within a particular economic environment that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other economic environments.  A
summary of the Group’s geographical segments is presented
in note 34.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in British pounds, which is the
Company's functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary
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assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit and loss as part of the fair value gain 
or loss.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity within the ‘translation
reserve’.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to shareholders' equity. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the income statement for all
interest bearing instruments using the effective interest rate
method.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating the
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts future cash
payments or receipts throughout the expected life of the
financial instrument, or a shorter period where appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. No income
is accrued with regards to financial assets that are in default.

2.6 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established. Realised and unrealised gains on the
holding of units in money market funds are categorised as
interest income.

2.7 Expenses

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

2.8 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. 

The Company currently incurs withholding tax imposed by
certain countries on investment income. Such income is
recorded gross of withholding tax in the income statement.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

2.9 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

(a) The Group classifies its financial assets and financial
liabilities in the following categories: at fair value through
profit or loss, and loans and receivables. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets and
financial liabilities were acquired. The Directors determine the
classification of financial assets and financial liabilities at
initial recognition and re-evaluate the designation at each
reporting date.

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss
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This category has two sub-categories: financial
assets and financial liabilities held for trading, and
those designated at fair value through profit or loss at
inception. Financial assets or financial liabilities held
for trading are acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading,
as the Group has not designated any derivatives as
hedges in hedging relationships.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss at inception are those
that are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis in accordance with the
Company’s documented investment strategy.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise when the
Group provides money directly to a debtor with no
intention of trading the receivable. They are included
in current assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months after the balance sheet date. These 
are classified as non-current assets. Loans and
receivables are separately stated on the 
balance sheet.

(b) Recognition

The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities
on the date it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Regular-way purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on trade date, which is the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of
'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' and
'financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss'
categories are included in the income statement in the
period in which they arise. Interest income on loans and
receivables is calculated using the effective interest method
and presented separately in the income statement.

Emission Reduction Purchase Agreements

The Group enters into Emission Reduction Purchase
Agreements (‘ERPAs’). ERPAs are contracts for the future
purchase of Carbon Credits (‘CCs’) with payment due upon
delivery are classified as derivatives held for trading.

The Group recognises an ERPA when it enters into a binding
contract with either a supplier relating to a project that
produces CCs or an agreement with an energy, agricultural
or industrial company to either jointly or solely develop a
facility that will generate CCs.

(c) Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value, and transaction costs for all financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
with the exception of unquoted equity investments, all
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value with changes in their fair value
recognised in the income statement.

Unquoted equity investments have significant unobservable
inputs, as they do not trade in an active market and their fair
value cannot be reliably measured. In accordance with IAS
39 these investments are measured at cost.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method, less impairment losses, if any.

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate.

(d) Fair value measurement principles

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and trading
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the
appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the
current ask price.

If a quoted market price is not available on a recognised
stock exchange or from a broker/dealer for non-exchange-
traded financial instruments, the fair value of the instrument
is estimated using valuation techniques, including use of
recent arm's length market transactions, reference to the
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially
the same, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing
models or any other valuation technique that provides a
reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual market
transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial
recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the
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consideration). All derivatives are carried as assets when fair
value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of any derivative
instrument are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Emission Reduction Purchase Agreements

In order for the Group or a supplier to the Group to produce
a CC, a number of steps must be performed, as follows:

(i) where a project does not use an existing approved
baseline and monitoring methodology, approval of a
new methodology by the CDM-EB (‘Clean
Development Mechanism – Executive Board’) must
occur;

(ii) submission for public review of a Project Design
Document (‘PDD’);

(iii) written approval of the project from the host country
Designated National Authority (‘DNA’) must be
obtained;

(iv) written approval of an Annex I Party (e.g. government
of UK) is obtained;

(v) if it is a large hydropower project (i.e. over 20MW), a
World Commission on Dams compliance report has
to be completed before getting Annex I Party
approval; 

(vi) project Validation must be completed by an approved
Designated Operational Entity (‘DOE’);

(vii) project Registration occurs once validation is
completed subject to there being no objection from
any of the parties involved or members of the CDM-
EB. If an objection is submitted a review is requested
and the project may be registered subject to
corrections or clarifications;

(viii) project operations; and

(ix) verification of the CCs by an approved DOE (different
to that DOE which validated the project).

When the CDM-EB receives the Verification report, which
constitutes a request to the CDM-EB to issue and distribute
CCs, the CDM Registry administrator issues CCs into a
temporary CDM account or a national registry account as
instructed by project participants.

The delivery of CCs under ERPAs entered into by the Group
or Company are subject to the success of the underlying
projects which produce the CCs and there is no guarantee
of delivery.  

ERPAs are recorded in the Group’s financial statements at
their fair value.  The fair value of each ERPA is determined
using a valuation model which takes the face value of the
Group’s contracts at each period end and adjusts the CC
delivery volumes in each contract by a risk adjustment factor
that takes into account (i) project technology, (ii) CDM and
project financing status, and (iii) the development and
construction status.  The risk adjusted volumes are then
valued using European Climate Exchange (ECX) CC prices at
each period end for settlement in December 2009 – 2012.
Estimated cash flows are then discounted at a rate of 10%
to determine the net present value of each ERPA contract.
The estimates, judgements and assumptions used by the
Group in determining the fair values of each ERPA at each
period end are disclosed in note 4.  

Details of the Group's commitments under ERPAs at 30
June 2009 and 30 June 2008 are set out in note 31.

(e) Impairment

Financial assets that are stated at amortised cost are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the
income statement as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
recognised on a financial asset carried at amortised cost
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the write-down, the write-down is
reversed through the income statement.

(f) Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial assets and financial
liabilities when the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets and financial liabilities have expired
or the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership.

The Group uses the weighted average method to determine
realised gains and losses on derecognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
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enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.11 Dividend distribution 

Final dividend payments to the Company's shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the
period in which the dividend payment is approved by the
Company's shareholders.

Interim dividends paid are recognised in the period in which
the dividend is paid.

2.12 Intangible assets 

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquisition over
the fair value of the Group's share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Gains and losses on the disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.

(b) Project developments

Costs that are directly associated with the development of
projects which will ultimately produce CCs and qualify for
capitalisation and recognition are recognised as intangible
assets. It must be probable that the related costs will
generate future economic benefits and that the amounts
capitalised are clearly identifiable and allocable to specific
projects. Costs include the payment of feasibility and
environmental studies and engineering costs.

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis from the date that the intangible assets are
available for use over their estimated useful life of 11 years
as part of other operating expenses. 

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested

annually for impairment. Separately recognised goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses on
goodwill are not reversed. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.14 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see 2.13
above). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the construction or acquisition of items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the costs
can be measured reliably. All other subsequent costs
(primarily repairs and maintenance) are charged to the
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or projects
under construction. On other property, plant and equipment,
depreciation is provided on the difference between the cost
of an item and its estimated residual value, in equal annual
instalments over the estimated useful economic lives of the
asset which is 5 years for both motor vehicles and furniture
and equipment and 11 years for biogas plants.

The assets' residual values and useful economic lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other operating expenses, in the income statement. 

2.15 Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Inventories of CCs are stated at fair value less costs to sell at
each reporting date, as they are principally acquired with the
purpose of selling in the near future.  Changes in fair value
less costs to sell are recognised in the income statement in
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the period of the change.  Fair value is determined using
quoted market prices.  In the absence of a quoted market
price, valuation models and evidence of recent transactions
in the prevailing CC secondary market are used.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation,
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to the income statement.

2.17 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet
at cost. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less.

Restricted cash is carried in the balance sheet at cost.
Restricted cash comprises reserve funds required for
settlement of specific long term contracts and margin call
cash accounts.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.21 Share capital

The Company's shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax and after eliminating sales
within the Group.

As further explained in note 12 the Company enters into
forward contracts to sell CCs. These contracts are settled
gross and revenue is recognised on delivery of the CC. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have
been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the
type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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(a) Sales – Power generation

The Group operates a number of power generation projects.
Revenue is recognised when a Group entity sells power to
the customer.

(b) Sales – CCs

The Group recognises revenue on the sale of CCs when the
CCs are delivered to a buyer.

2.23 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into. Equity instruments are recorded in the balance
sheet at fair value and the fair value is remeasured at each
period end except where the liability is settled by delivering a
fixed number of equity instruments in exchange for a fixed
amount of cash or other financial asset when no fair value
adjustment is applied.

3 Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. The Group uses
derivative financial instruments to mitigate certain risk
exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the Company’s
investment adviser under policies approved by the board of
directors.

3.1 Market risk 

(i) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk as it
invests in quoted and unquoted equity securities which are
classified on the balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group may also trade in
financial instruments, taking positions in traded and OTC
instruments, including derivatives, to take advantage of
short-term market movements in the emission markets. The

Group may therefore buy or sell call or put options and
financial futures. It may do so on a covered or uncovered
basis.

The Group's investment securities including derivative
financial instruments are susceptible to market price risk
arising from uncertainties about future prices of these
securities and instruments. The Group's overall market
positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Group's
investment adviser and are reviewed on a quarterly basis by
the Directors.

Quoted investments classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Holding all other variables constant, for every 10% increase
or decrease in the Group’s quoted investments classified as
financial assets at the fair value through profit or loss at 30
June 2009, the expected increase or decrease in the net
assets and results of the Group would be £206,000 (2008 :
£226,000).

Inventory

Holding all other variables constant, for every 10% increase
or decrease in the Group’s inventory at fair value less cost to
sell at 30 June 2009, the expected increase or decrease in
the net assets and results of the Group would be
£4,635,000 (2008: £3,173,000).

ERPA valuation model

The Group is exposed to market price risk with respect to its
portfolio of carbon credits which is disclosed further in note
3.1(iv).

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

A significant proportion of the Group's financial assets are
interest bearing. As a result, the Group is subject to
significant amounts of risk due to fluctuations in the
prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial
position and cash flows. The Group's exposure to market
risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the
Group's cash and investment portfolio. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate
risk on its investment portfolio. The returns on the Group's
investments in both money market funds and cash deposits
are linked to short-term deposit rates and are therefore
linked closely to bank base rate changes. For the purpose of
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the disclosure below these investments have been treated as
variable rate. 

The Group holds a significant amount of cash and deposits
with financial institutions and as a result the Group's interest
income and cash flows are subject to changes in market
interest rates, primarily changes in the base rates of GBP
and EUR. During the year, interest income from cash and
deposits with financial institutions was £5,411,000 (2008:
£11,498,000). At 30 June 2009, if interest rates in these
currencies on average had been 1% higher or lower, with all

other variables held constant, interest income and post tax
loss for the year would have been higher or lower by
£1,070,000 (2008: £2,098,000 higher or lower). 

Certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
contain fixed interest rates, and therefore changes in the
base rate will not affect the interest receivable cash flows.
The table below summarises the Group's exposure to
interest rate risk. It includes the Group's assets and liabilities
at fair values, categorised by the order of contractual re-
pricing or maturity dates.

At 30 June 2009 Up to
1 year
£'000

1 to 5
years
£'000

Non-interest
bearing

£'000

Total

£'000

Assets
Intangible assets - - 3,595 3,595
Property, plant and equipment - - 14,873 14,873
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 39,402 178,528 217,930
Loans and receivables 22 174 - 196
Trade and other receivables - - 10,878 10,878
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell - - 46,352 46,352
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 166,579 - 11,538 178,117

Total assets 166,601 39,576 265,764 471,941

Liabilities
Trade and other payables - - (44,106) (44,106)
Borrowings (263) (57) - (320)
Cash margin payable to broker - - (17,843) (17,843)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - (22,455) (22,455)
Current tax liabilities - - (768) (768)
Deferred income tax liabilities - - (2,166) (2,166)

Total liabilities (263) (57) (87,338) (87,658)

Net assets 166,338 39,519 178,426 384,283
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The table below summarises average effective interest rates for monetary financial instruments.

At 30 June 2008 Up to
1 year
£'000

1 to 5
years
£'000

Non-interest
bearing

£'000

Total

£'000

Assets
Intangible assets - - 3,436 3,436
Property, plant and equipment - - 10,742 10,742
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 23,497 445,400 468,897
Loans and receivables 1,218 10,091 - 11,309
Trade and other receivables - - 27,305 27,305
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell - - 31,734 31,734
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 146,639 - - 146,639

Total assets 147,857 33,588 518,617 700,062

Liabilities
Trade and other payables - - (45,958) (45,958)
Borrowings (192) (192) - (384)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - (11,030) (11,030)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges - - (1,653) (1,653)
Deferred income tax liabilities - - (5,548) (5,548)

Total liabilities (192) (192) (64,189) (64,573)

Net assets 147,665 33,396 454,428 635,489

At 30 June 2009 % per annum
THB USDGBP EUR PHP

% per annum
THB USDGBP EUR PHP

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - - - 
Loans and receivables - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 1.23 1.19 0.58 1.14 0.64

At 30 June 2008

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12.00 - - 8.00 - 
Loans and receivables - 20.00 - 2.70 10.00
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 5.52 3.72 2.37 2.14 3.00
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USD OtherGBP EUR TotalAt 30 June 2009

(all expressed in £ '000)
Assets
Intangible assets 1,569 - 1,590 436 3,595
Property, plant and equipment 796 - 816 13,261 14,873
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,518 140,628 28,047 43,737 217,930
Loans and receivables - - 196 - 196
Trade and other receivables 3,371 5,680 48 1,779 10,878
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell - 46,352 - - 46,352
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 80,592 91,864 3,217 2,444 178,117

Total assets 91,846 284,524 33,914 61,657 471,941

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (36,922) (5,462) (628) (1,094) (44,106)
Borrowings - - - (320) (320)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (21,611) (844) - (22,455)
Current tax liabilities (763) - - (5) (768)
Cash margin payable to broker - (17,843) - - (17,843)
Deferred income tax liabilities (1,231) - (935) - (2,166)

Total liabilities (38,916) (44,916) (2,407) (1,419) (87,658)

Net assets 52,930 239,608 31,507 60,238 384,283

(iii) Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Euro and US dollar.  Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts or other
derivatives to mitigate its foreign exchange exposure to
future cash flows.  The derivatives are privately negotiated
OTC contracts with a financial institution or broker.  Positions
are marked to market daily and are risk managed on this
basis using market-recognised valuation methodologies.

Foreign exchange forward contracts for the sale of €60m
(purchase of £54m) were held at the year end. The contracts
are held to mitigate the Company’s foreign currency
exposure on its Euro denominated ERPA asset. 

In the ERPA valuation model, the Group adopts the ECX
price quoted in EUR.  It is the currency in which the carbon
credits are normally traded.  The currency exposure in this
financial asset is not hedged. However, the financial assets
of CERs are hedged against market risk.  It is further
discussed in note 3.1.  The sensitivity of the exchange rate
change has been disclosed in note 3.1.

The tables below summarise the Group's exposure to
currency risk.
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The sterling equivalent of the Group's assets and liabilities
incorporated in the table on the left under 'Other' include
total net assets / (net liabilities) denominated in the following
currencies; THB: £10,365,000; PHP: £5,627,000; PEN:
£4,550,000; BRL: £38,894,000; HKD: (£3,000) and VND:
£805,000.

The sterling equivalent of the Group's assets and liabilities
incorporated in the table above under 'Other' include total
net assets / (liabilities) denominated in the following
currencies; THB: £8,090,000; PHP: £4,497,000; PEN:
£3,176,000; BRL: £36,686,000 and VND: £ (24,000)

Foreign exchange gains have arisen in the year ended 30
June 2009 on the translation of EUR and USD denominated
cash deposits, certain EUR and USD denominated loans to
British pounds, and the settlement of foreign currency
payables and receivables.  

(iv) Sensitivity analysis

A financial instrument is defined in IAS 32 as any contract
that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity (effectively the
contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset
from another entity) and a financial liability (effectively the
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity) or equity instrument (effectively a
residual interest in the assets of an entity) of another. IFRS 7
requires disclosure of a sensitivity analysis that is intended to
illustrate the sensitivity of the Group’s financial position and

USD OtherGBP EUR TotalAt 30 June 2008

(all expressed in £ '000)
Assets
Intangible assets 1,549 - 1,590 297 3,436
Property, plant and equipment 551 - 293 9,898 10,742
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13,263 397,112 20,832 37,690 468,897
Loans and receivables - 1,186 10,103 20 11,309
Trade and other receivables 15,383 10,699 26 1,197 27,305
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell - 31,734 - - 31,734
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 128,647 11,263 2,184 4,545 146,639

Total assets 159,393 451,994 35,028 53,647 700,062

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (44,876) (2) (242) (838) (45,958)
Borrowings - - - (384) (384)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (8,028) (3,002) - (11,030)
Provision for other liabilities and charges - - (1,653) - (1,653)
Deferred income tax liabilities (4,395) - (1,153) - (5,548)

Total liabilities (49,271) (8,030) (6,050) (1,222) (64,573)

Net assets 110,122 443,964 28,978 52,425 635,489

2009 2008
Exchange rates to British
pounds at 30 June:

Thai Baht 56.06 66.62
US Dollar 1.65 1.99
Philippine Peso 79.14 89.27
Peruvian New Sol 4.95 5.90
Euro 1.17 1.26
Brazilian Rial 3.21 3.20
Vietnamese Dong 29,295.00 33,554.31
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performance to changes in market variables (carbon credit
prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices) as a result of changes in the fair value or cash flows
associated with the Group’s financial instruments. The
sensitivity analysis discloses the effect on profit or loss at 30
June 2009 assuming that a reasonably possible change in
the relevant risk variable had occurred at 30 June 2009 and
been applied to the risk exposures in existence at that date
to show the effects of reasonably possible changes in price
on profit or loss to the next annual reporting date. The
reasonably possible changes in market variables used in the
sensitivity analysis were determined based on implied
volatilities where available or historical data.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared based on 30 June
2009 balances and on the basis that the balances and the
proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies at 30
June 2009 are all constant. Excluded from this analysis are
all non-financial assets and liabilities. The sensitivity to foreign
exchange rates relates only to monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the commercial operation transacting, and excludes the
translation of the net assets of foreign operations to 
pounds sterling.

The sensitivity analysis provided is hypothetical only and
should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not
necessarily indicative of the actual impacts that would be
experienced because the Group’s actual exposure to market
rates is constantly changing as the Group’s portfolio of
carbon credit and assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency changes.
Changes in fair values or cash flows based on a variation in a
market variable cannot be extrapolated because the
relationship between the change in market variable and the
change in fair value or cash flows may not be linear. In
addition, the effect of a change in a particular market variable
on fair values or cash flows is calculated without considering
interrelationships between the various market rates or
mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group.

If the market price applied to the Group's portfolio of carbon
credits included within financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and inventory had been 10%
higher the fair value of these assets and liabilities would have
increased by £37,890,000 (2008: £64,619,000) with a
corresponding increase in the unrealised gain in the income
statement.  If the market price applied to the Group's
portfolio of carbon credits included within financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and inventory
had been 10% lower the fair value would have decreased by
£34,104,000 (2008: £64,621,000) with a corresponding

decrease in the unrealised gain in the income statement.

A discount rate of 10% has been applied to the cash flows
within the ERPA valuation model at 30 June 2009. If the
discount rate used in the ERPA valuation model was 1%
higher or lower, the value of the Group's ERPAs would have
been lower by £3,245,000, or higher by £2,023,000,
respectively. 

If the market price applied to the ERPA valuation model at 30
June 2009 was 10% or 30% higher the fair value of the
Group's ERPAs would have increased by £30,009,000 and
£83,881,000, respectively. If the market price applied was
10% or 30% lower the fair value of the Group's ERPAs
would have decreased by £31,343,000 and £92,737,000,
respectively.

If the foreign exchange rates used in the ERPA valuation
model at 30 June 2009 had seen the pound sterling
strengthen by 10% then the value of the Group's financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss would
have decreased by £10,757,000 (2008: £39,460,000) with a
corresponding decrease in unrealised gain in the income
statement.  If the foreign exchange rates in use at 30 June
2009 had seen the pound sterling weaken by 10% then the
value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss would have increased by
£18,715,000 (2008: £48,227,000) with a corresponding
increase in the unrealised gain in the income statement.

3.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  Credit risk arises
from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial
instruments and deposits with banks and financial
institutions, as well as credit exposures to counterparties
with respect to receivables and committed transactions. 

All transactions in listed and quoted securities are
settled/paid for upon delivery using approved brokers. The
risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities
sold is only made once the broker has received payment.
Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have
been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party
fails to meet their obligation.

The Group's financial assets at fair value through the profit or
loss are predominantly the fair value of ERPAs relating to
CCs. ERPAs are gross settled upon delivery of CCs and
therefore the Group is not exposed to credit risk. The
Directors consider the maximum counterparty risk to be the
delivery of CCs under the terms of the ERPAs, the value of
which at 30 June 2009 is £104,806,000 (2008:
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£380,922,000).  Counterparty risks associated with the
Group’s ERPAs are reviewed by the Group’s Investment
Adviser and by the Board and are reflected in the risk
adjustment factors used in the Group’s ERPA valuation
model, see note 4.

The Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk in its
treasury management and CC swap transactions.  Credit
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with
banks and financial institutions as well as exposure to retail
customers including outstanding receivables and committed
transactions.  For banks and financial institutions only
independently rated parties with a minimum rating of “A” are
accepted.  If there is no independent rating, the Board
assesses the credit quality of the customer or institution,
taking into account its financial position, past experience and
other factors.  Individual risk limits are set based on internal
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the
Board.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in dealing with
derivatives.  The Group enters into forward contracts,
options and swap contracts with counterparties other than
“A” rated financial institutions.  Most of these transactions
once agreed will be cleared through the exchange to
eliminate credit risk.  In cases where the contracts cannot be
cleared through the exchange, the Group will seek to
structure the settlement through escrow account or deliver
only after the counterparty fulfils its obligations. The Group
also monitors the counterparty credit ratings regularly and
the contracts will provide the Group with remedial actions if
there is any event affecting to the financial standing of the
counterparties.

The Group had no credit limits that were exceeded during
the reporting period.  The Company made a loan to its
subsidiary Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd for which
repayments should have started in September 2007.  At the
reporting date no repayments had been made on this loan.
The Company still expects this loan to be repaid in full.  The
Company's maximum exposure to this loan including interest
accrued to 30 June 2009 is £868,000 (2008: £675,000).
There are no other significant financial assets which are past
due or impaired.

3.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to close out market positions and
meet financial commitments. The Group's financial assets

comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and derivative financial instruments.

The Group produces cash forecasts to identify the cash
requirements for the next 12 months.  The Group's policy is
to cover 100% of its ERPA obligations due within 24 months
in cash deposit or cash equivalents and in aggregate 50% of
its ERPA obligations up to 2012 in cash and standby credit
facilities.  The Group expects to sell 100% of its CCs on
delivery and it hedges its CC position from time to time by
entering into forward contracts.

There are no ready markets for the unquoted investments
and as such, these investments may not be readily
realisable. The Group maintains the majority of its liquid
assets in cash and cash equivalents in order to meet its
future financial commitments. At 30 June 2009 the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of £178,117,000 (2008:
£146,639,000).

The Group's derivative contracts include contracts traded
over the counter, which are not traded in any organised
public market and may be illiquid. As a result the Group may
not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these
instruments at an amount close to their fair value or to
respond to specific events such as deterioration in the
creditworthiness of any particular issuer.
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The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities and
net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet to the contractual maturity date on an undiscounted
basis.

3.4 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing the capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to obtain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.  The Group raised sufficient
funds for its operations during two share offerings in 2005
and 2006 which raised £297m in aggregate.  The Board
monitors the Company’s capital structure and the return on
capital to shareholders.  The Group defines capital as total
shareholders’ equity excluding minority interests.   

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
will adjust the returns to shareholders in the form of share
buybacks and dividends paid to shareholders.  According to
the Company’s Articles, it is allowed to buyback up to 10%
of its Ordinary shares until the next annual general meeting.

To preserve its capital, the Company may also purchase its
own shares on the market for issuing shares to the
investment adviser in order to meet part of the 2008
performance fees due.  See note 5 for further details. 

The Group seeks to achieve an internal rate of return equal
to at least 10% per annum.  The Company has maintained a
strong and entirely unleveraged cash position.  There were
no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management
during the year.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirement.

The Group’s strategy is not to leverage its current cash
position, however from time to time certain subsidiaries
within the Group may have external borrowings. At 30 June
2009 one of the Group’s subsidiaries had borrowings of
£320,000 (2008: £384,000).

3.5 Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as trading securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date.  The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price.

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Less than 
1 year

Over 
5 years

At 30 June 2009

(all expressed in £ '000)
Undrawn loan commitments (see notes 31.1 and 13) (50,569) - - -
Borrowings (263) (57) - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (21,801) (654) - -
Cash margin payable to broker (17,843) - - -
Trade and other payables (15,515) (13,619) (16,196) -

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Less than 
1 year

Over 
5 years

At 30 June 2008

(all expressed in £ '000)
Undrawn loan commitments (see notes 31.1 and 13) (39,978) - - -
Borrowings (192) (192) - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (8,656) - - (2,374)
Trade and other payables (45,832) (126) - -
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The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet
date. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash
flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining
financial instruments. The fair value of CC swaps is
calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash
flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the
balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The Board are of the view that there is no significant
difference between the carrying values and fair values of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities, except for the
performance fee liability. See note 5b.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

(i) ERPA contracts and their underlying carbon credits
delivery

In determining the fair value of ERPA contracts, the
Directors have developed a valuation model which
takes the face value of the Group’s completed
contracts at each period end and adjusts the carbon
credit delivery volumes within each contract by a risk
adjustment factor that takes into account (i) project
technology, (ii) the CDM status and project finance,
and (iii) the development and construction status.
The risk adjusted volumes are then valued using
European Climate Exchange (ECX) CC prices at each
period end for settlement in December 2008 – 2012.
Estimated cash flows are then discounted at a rate of
10% to determine the net present value of each
ERPA contract.  

The Group has entered into ERPA contracts for the
acquisition of post 2012 CCs generating from pre-
2012 CDM projects.  These CCs fall within the first
crediting period of the project.  In the ERPA valuation
as of 30 June 2009, post-2012 CERs are fair valued
at €7 each (2008: €7).   This unit price is considered
fair based on the fact that there is a market for such
CCs at this price.

Changes in the risk adjustment assumptions and the
cash flow discount rate assumptions used within the
ERPA valuation model together with the market for
carbon credits will affect the reported fair value of the
ERPA contracts at each period end.

(ii) Fair value of OTC derivatives 

The Group may from time to time hold financial
instruments that are not quoted in active markets,
such as OTC derivatives. Fair values of such
instruments are determined by using valuation
techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example,
models) are used to determine fair values, they are
validated and reviewed by experienced personnel.
Models are calibrated by back-testing to actual
transactions to ensure that the outputs are reliable.
Changes in assumptions will affect the reported fair
value of OTC derivatives.

Models use observable data, to the extent
practicable. However, areas such as credit risk (both
own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations
require the Directors to make estimates. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments.
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(b) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

The Company tests semi-annually whether any of its
investments in subsidiaries have suffered any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.2(a).
This determination requires significant judgement. In making
this judgement the Company evaluates, amongst other
factors, the financial health of and the short-term business
outlook for the subsidiary, including its performance against
its business plan, factors such as industry and sector
performance, operating and financing cash flows.

If any significant indicators of impairment are identified the
Company uses valuation techniques (for example,
discounted cash flow, price earnings, and net asset multiple
models) taking into consideration comparable recent arm’s
length transactions in order to determine the amount of any
impairment. The Company uses its judgement to select the
valuation method (typically the method used to determine
the original purchase decision) and assumptions which are
based on market conditions existing at each reporting date.
Changes in expected future cash flows, discount rates and
expense assumptions will affect the carrying value of
investments in subsidiaries at each reporting date.

5 Investment Adviser, administration and 
custodian fees

Investment advisory fees

The Company is advised by EEA Fund Management Limited
(‘the Investment Adviser’ or ‘EEA’), an investment
management company incorporated in the United Kingdom
in accordance with the terms of the investment advisory
agreement dated April 2005, (the ‘Agreement’). 

The Agreement can be terminated by either of the parties
giving not less than 12 months notice and the agreement
expires in April 2012 at which date the Company and the
Investment Adviser can agree to rollover the Agreement.

(a) Investment advisory fees

Under the Agreement EEA receives an investment advisory
fee payable quarterly in arrears at a rate of 1.5% per annum
of the gross asset value of the Company's investment
portfolio. The gross asset value excludes expenses
associated with the Company's placing and admission to
AIM and excludes any provision for any liabilities including
borrowings or the accrual of any fees or expenses.

Investment advisory fees for the year ended 30 June 2009
were £7,182,000 (2008: £8,947,000) and £1,736,000 (2008:
£2,004,000) was accrued at 30 June 2009.

(b) Performance fees

In addition to the investment advisory fees stated above,
under the terms of the Agreement, EEA is entitled to a
performance fee. The performance fee is payable at a rate of
20% of the net profits per annum made by the Company in
respect of the portfolio subject to an annual return of at least
10% being achieved.

Under the terms of the Agreement EEA was entitled to a
£40,487,000 performance fee payable in cash for the year
ended June 2008. On 16 October 2008, EEA and the
Company agreed revised payment terms for the 2008
performance fee under which EEA will receive the fee in five
instalments. The first instalment of £8,097,000 was paid in
cash on 16 October 2008, and it was agreed that 50% of
this amount would be used by EEA to purchase the
Company’s shares in the market. In September each year
thereafter from 2009 to 2012, EEA will receive £4,049,000 in
cash and be issued with £4,049,000 of the Company’s
shares at a fixed price of 175p per share.  Shares issued to
EEA under this arrangement will be subject to a 12 month
lock-up from the date of issue.

In accordance with IAS 32 the future performance fee liability
to be settled in the Company’s shares has not been fair
valued as it has been determined to be an equity instrument.
In accordance with IAS 39 the future performance fee liability
to be settled in cash was fair valued on 16 October 2008
and a £1,494,000 fair value adjustment has been recognised
in the Company’s income statement.

The performance fee payable for the year ended 30 June
2009 was £Nil (2008: £40,487,000).

Administration fees

Chamberlain Fund Services Limited (‘Chamberlain’) receives
an administration fee payable quarterly in arrears at a rate of
0.10% per annum of the Company’s net asset value subject
to a minimum of £30,000 per annum or pro-rata for any
period less than one year.

Chamberlain has entered into a sub administration
agreement between the Company, Chamberlain and IOMA
Fund and Investment Management Limited (‘IOMAFIM’), a
related party (see note 33) whereby Chamberlain has
delegated certain administration functions to IOMAFIM.
IOMAFIM is remunerated for these services by Chamberlain



out of the administration fee which Chamberlain receives
from the Company.

The administration agreement is terminable inter alia by
either of the parties giving not less than 6 months notice.

Administration fees for the year ended 30 June 2009 were
£428,000 (2008: £523,000) of which £98,000 was accrued
at 30 June 2009 (2008: £187,000).

Custodian fees

The Company has engaged the services of BNP Paribas
Security Services (IOM) Limited ("the Custodian") for the
provision of custodian services. Under the terms of the
custodian agreement, the Custodian receives transaction
fees subject to a minimum fee of £3,000 per quarter paid 
in arrears.

6 Directors' fees

The Company's Directors received the following fees:

In addition to their directors' fees and included in the above
amounts are annual fees of £5,000 each payable to Messrs
Wood, Vanderpump and Gillies as members of the audit
committee. None of the Directors are entitled to any cash or
non-cash benefits in kind, pensions, bonus or share scheme
arrangements. The Directors are related parties and further
disclosures regarding transactions with Directors have been
made in notes 32 and 33.
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Company 
2009
£’000

Company 
2008
£’000

Neil David Eckert 40 40
Malcolm John Gillies 35 35
Bertrand Rassool 30 20
Philip Peter Scales * 5 5
Nigel Harley Wood * 35 35
Charles Peter Arthur Vanderpump* 20 -
Robin Neil Siddall Bigland * - 15

165 150

* Isle of Man resident directors



7 Impairment charges

(a) Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

Sun Biofuels Ltd

At 30 June 2007 Sun Biofuels Limited (“Sun Biofuels”) was
an associate of the Company and in accordance with IAS
28, the Company’s 34.68% investment in the ordinary
shares of Sun Biofuels purchased for £5,648,000 was
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss.  At 30 June 2007 the fair value of the Company’s
investment in Sun Biofuels’ was written down to £2,302,000
based on recent transactions in Sun Biofuels ordinary
shares.  A reduction in fair value of Sun Biofuels of
£3,346,000 was recognised in the Company’s income
statement for the year ended 30 June 2007.

On 24 September 2007 Sun Biofuels became a subsidiary of
the Company after the Company acquired a further 23.69%
of Sun Biofuels’ ordinary shares at a cost of £1,010,000.  In
accordance with IFRS 3 the fair value losses of £3,346,000
previously recognised were reversed in 2008 through ‘Net
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss’, and an impairment charge against the carrying
value of the subsidiary of £3,346,000 was recognised in the
Company’s income statement.  

In July 2008 the Company was the sole participant in Sun
Biofuels Rights Issue for 50,000,000 shares at a cost of
£2,700,000 which brought the aggregate shareholding up to
approximately 94%. In November 2008 the Company
acquired a minority interest’s holding in Sun Biofuels of
1.63% at a cost of £438,000. An impairment charge of
£1,571,000 was recognised by the Company with regard to
this investment at 30 June 2009. 

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

The Company has written down the cost of its investment in

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (“Kalasin”) in the year
ended 30 June 2009 due to less than expected production
of biogas, resulting in insufficient electricity sales. As a result,
there has been insufficient biogas energy to supply the
power plant. An impairment charge of £6,000 has been
recognised by the Company at 30 June 2009 (2008:
£183,000).

(b) Impairment of intangible assets

Sun Biofuels Ltd

As described in note 7(a), the Company acquired control of
Sun Biofuels Limited on 24 September 2007.  In accordance
with IFRS 3, Sun Biofuels Limited was accounted for as a
step acquisition in 2008.  Fair value losses previously
recognised were reversed and an impairment charge of
£2,257,000 was recognised on acquisition (see note 34). A
further impairment charge of £380,000 (2008: £851,000) has
been recognised in the Group’s income statement in 2009,
see note 14.

Carbon Capital Markets

In November 2008 the Company took control of the Board
of Carbon Capital Markets (CCM), a 40% owned investment.
Goodwill of £640,000 was recognised on this transaction
and determined to be impaired. In June 2009, as part of a
restructure of CCM, the Company converted 9,500,000 of
its preference shares in CCM to ordinary shares resulting in a
99.98% ordinary shareholding in CCM at 30 June 2009. As
a result, losses previously recognised in equity of £6,630,000
were included in the goodwill calculation and determined to
be impaired. 
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Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries - 1,577 - 5,967
Impairment of intangible assets 7,650 - 3,108 -

7,650 1,577 3,108 5,967
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Group 
2008
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Sale of CCs 44,112 2,531
Sale of electricity and biogas 1,987 1,483

46,099 4,014

Group 
2008
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Administration expenses - subsidiaries 3,003 1,642
Professional fees 1,744 1,962
Project registration costs 1,671 759
VAT recoverable - (1,270)
Other expenses 1,862 1,008
Directors’ fees and insurance 235 136
Pledge guarantee costs 65 115
Travel 606 147
Bank interests and charges 87 39
Membership fees 17 -
Commission payable and bid bonds 879 525
Audit committee fees 10 10
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor:

Audit of the Company’s annual financial statements* 190 184
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 15 12
Other assurance services 62 96

10,446 5,365

* Audit fees paid to the auditor in the year ended 30 June 2009 included an under
accrual of £15,000 in respect of audit fees for the year ended 30 June 2008 
(2007: £33,000).

8 Revenue

9 Other expenses



10 Income tax credit / (expense)

The Company is liable to Isle of Man income tax at the rate
of zero percent.  Companies within the Group which are
incorporated outside the Isle of Man are taxed in accordance
with the laws, rules and regulations within their own
countries.

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to (losses)/profits of the
consolidated companies as follows:

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 3.25% 
(2008: 2.02%). 

There have been no changes in the applicable tax rates in
any of the countries in which the Group operates.
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Group 
2008
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Current tax (846) (76)
Deferred tax (note 23) 4,429 (5,548)

Income tax credit/(expense) 3,583 (5,624)

Group 
2008
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (232,173) 194,043

Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to 
profit/(loss) in respective countries 7,555 (3,918)

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised (3,972) (1,706)

Tax credit/(charge) 3,583 (5,624)
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11 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

11.1 Non-current financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

11.2 Current financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
- Unquoted equity securities 73,077 5,544 69,657 15,084

Held for trading:
Derivatives
- ERPA 85,492 83,750 346,327 333,820

Total non-current financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 158,569 89,294 415,984 348,904

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
Unquoted equity securities 3,461 - - -

Held for trading:
Quoted equity securities held for trading 2,057 2,057 2,263 2,263
Derivatives
- ERPA 19,982 19,982 50,650 50,632
- Short ECX CO2 instruments 30,862 30,908 - -
- Short ICE CO2 instruments 46 - - -
- OTC Put CO2 Options 1 - - -
- Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,952 2,952 - -

Total held for trading 55,900 55,899 52,913 52,895

Total current financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 59,361 55,899 52,913 52,895
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11.3 Current financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Held for trading:
Carbon credit deliverables (174) - - -
Derivatives
- Short ECX CO2 instruments - - (8,029) (8,029)
- Short CCF CO2 instruments - - (290) (290)
- Short CCX Certified Carbon Credit Call Option (15) - - -
- Short ECX CER Call Options (2,864) (2,864) - -
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments - - (337) -
- Short OTC CER/EUA instruments (8,615) - - -
- CC forward swap contracts (782) (782) - -
- Long ECX CER instruments (8,200) - - -
- Short ICE CO2 instruments (1,151) - - -

Total held for trading (21,801) (3,646) (8,656) (8,319)

Total current financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (21,801) (3,646) (8,656) (8,319)

11.4 Non-current financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Held for trading:
- Carbon credit deliverables (88) - - -
Derivatives
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments - - (2,374) -
- Short CCX Certified Carbon Credit Call Option (566) - - -

Total held for trading (654) - (2,374) -

Total non-current financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss (654) - (2,374) -
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11.5 Net change in fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

12 Derivative financial instruments

As of 30 June 2009 the Company has positions in futures
and swaps contracts.

(a) Futures

Futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell financial
instruments on a future date at a specified price established
in an organised market. The futures contracts are
collateralised by cash or marketable securities; changes in
futures contracts' value are settled daily with the exchange.

The Group enters into exchange traded CC futures
contracts. CC futures are contractual obligations to receive
or pay a gross amount based on changes in the price of
CC's at a future date at a specified price established in an
organised financial market. It is the Group's intention to
physically settle its short futures from its portfolio of CC's.

(b) Swaps

In general a swap is a contract for the exchange of one
asset or liability for a similar asset or liability for the purpose
of lengthening or shortening maturities, or raising or lowering
coupon rates, to maximize revenue or minimize financing
costs. This may entail selling one securities issue and buying
another in foreign currency; it may entail buying a currency
on the spot market and simultaneously selling it forward.
Swaps also may involve exchanging income flows; for
example, exchanging the fixed rate coupon stream of a bond

for a variable rate payment stream, or vice versa, while not
swapping the principal component of the bond. Swaps are
generally traded over-the-counter.  

During the year, the Group has entered swap contracts to
buy EUAs and sell CERs for EU ETS compliance.   

(c) Options

An option is a contractual arrangement under which the
seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not
the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put
option) at or by a specific date or during a specific period, a
specified amount of securities or a financial instrument at a
predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the
purchaser in consideration for the assumption of the future
securities price. 

The notional amounts of certain types of financial
instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments
recognised on the balance sheet, but they do not necessarily
indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the
current fair value of the instruments and do not therefore
indicate the Group's exposure to credit or market price risks.
The derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or
unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market
prices or interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative to
their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of
derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which
instruments are favourable or unfavourable and, thus the
aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and
liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

Group 
2008
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
- Realised gains 2,855 -
- Unrealised gains 3,802 546

Net gains 6,657 546

Held for trading:
- Realised gains 25,639 574
- Unrealised (losses)/gains (246,190) 217,152

Net (losses)/gains (220,551) 217,726
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Fair value 

£’000

Contractual/
notional amount

’000

Current and non current Derivative Contract Assets
- ERPA EUR 298,911 105,474 EUR 319,532 396,977

& USD 22,056 & USD 61,989 
- OTC PUT CO2 options USD 495 1 - - 
- Short ECX CO2 instruments EUR 96,095 30,862 - -
- Short ICE CO2 instruments EUR 320 46 - -
- Forward foreign exchange contracts EUR 60,000 2,952 - -

139,335 396,977

Less Non-Current Position:
- ERPA EUR 257,119 85,492 EUR 297,715 346,327

& USD 18,533 & USD 57,409 

Current portion 53,843 50,650

2009

Fair value 

£’000

Contractual/
notional amount

’000

2008

Fair value 

£’000

Contractual/
notional amount

’000

Current Derivative Contract Liabilities
- Short ECX CO2 instruments - - EUR  85,846 8,029
- Short CCF CO2 instruments - - USD 1,561 290
- Short CCX Certified Carbon Credit Call Option USD 10,126 581 - -
- Short ECX CER Call Options EUR 1,640 2,864 - -
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments - - USD 11,213 2,374
- Short OTC CER/EUA instruments EUR 5,843 8,615 - -
- CC forward swap contracts EUR 7,257 782 - -
- Long ECX CER instruments EUR 25,193 8,200 - -
- Short ICE CO2 instruments EUR 14,619 1,151 - -

22,193 10,693

Less Non-Current Portion:
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments - - EUR 11,213 2,374
- Short CCX Certified Carbon Credit Call Option USD 8,126 566 - -

566 - 2,374

Current portion 21,627 - 8,319

2009

Fair value 

£’000

Contractual/
notional amount

’000

2008



Trading Emissions plc Report and Accounts 2009   67

13 Loans and receivables

The Group and the Company have entered into the following
loans:

TEP Asia Limited

In 2006 and 2007 the Company entered into GBP loans with
TEP Asia Limited in the aggregate amount of £4,150,000.
These loans are unsecured, interest free and are not
expected to be repaid within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date.

On 26 October 2006 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of THB
32,500,000 (£465,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand. TEP Asia Limited has lent these
funds to Swine Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (‘SWTE’), a wholly
owned subsidiary of Clean Energy Asia Limited. The loan
from TEP Asia Limited to SWTE has been registered with the
Bank of Thailand and is repayable quarterly following project
commissioning. Interest is payable on the loan at a rate of
9% per annum.

On 7 December 2006 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of THB
32,500,000 (£510,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free
and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the
balance sheet date. 

On 19 May 2009 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of THB
48,000,000 (£910,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free
and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the
balance sheet date. 

On 3 January 2007 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of USD
3,087,000 (£1,537,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free
and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.

Company 
2008
£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009
£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Non-current
Loans to subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings
TEP Asia Limited - 14,106 - 10,900 
Clean Energy Asia Limited - 3,172 - 2,685
Billiter Energy Corporation - 18,228 - 10,038
Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd. - 736 - 465
Santa Rita Limited Partnership - 4,869 - 3,307
Environmental Credit Corporation - 870 - -
Trading Emissions Limited - - - 1,466

Other loans and receivables
Econergy Energy Generation Limited - - 10,039 10,039
Loan notes issued by Group companies 174 - 32 - 
Philippine Bio-science Co., Inc - - 20 - 

174 41,981 10,091 38,900

Current
Loans to subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings
Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd. - - - 155

Other loans and receivables
Carbon Capital Markets Limited - - 1,186 1,186
Loan notes issued by Group companies 22 - 32 -

22 - 1,218 1,341

Total loans and receivables 196 41,981 11,309 40,241
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On 6 June 2007 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited for an amount up to USD
3,318,000. TEP Asia Limited lent these funds to Hacienda
Bio-Energy Corporation (“HBC”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Clean Energy Asia Limited. The loan to HBC is secured by
way of first charge over the assets of HBC and interest is
payable at an annual rate of 10%. The loan is repayable in
16 equal quarterly instalments following the commissioning
of HBC's electrical power plant. On 31 July 2007 this loan
was increased by USD8,355,000 (£4,326,000). TEP Asia
Limited used these funds to acquire shares in Korat Waste
to Energy Limited (“KWTE”). On 31 March 2009 the
Company amended the current loan agreement to increase
the total loan facility available to TEP Asia Limited to
USD20,000,000. The company drew down a further
USD5,570,000 (£3,863,000) of the facility on 31 March
2009. These funds were used to acquire further shares in
KWTE. The loan was partially repaid in 2008 and at 30 June
2008 the balance outstanding was USD12,790,000
(£7,771,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free and not
expected to be repaid within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date.

On 27 November 2006 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of PHP
13,373,000 (£137,000). The loan is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand. TEP Asia Limited lent these
funds to Philippine Bio-Science Co., Inc (‘PhilBio’), a third
party.  On 16 April 2008 the loan was assigned to
Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation.  The loan is unsecured
and interest is payable at an annual rate of 10%.  Philippine
Bio-Energy owes accrued interest on this loan of
PHP1,790,000 (£23,000).  The Company does not expect
this to be paid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Clean Energy Asia Limited

In 2008 the Company entered into three loan agreements in
the amounts of USD3,475,000 (£3,265,000),
THB27,600,000 (£473,000) and EUR666,000 (£480,000).
These loans are unsecured, interest free and are not
expected to be repaid within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date.

Billiter Energy Corporation

On 25 July 2007 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Billiter Energy Corporation.  In total the
Company has advanced USD30,050,000 (£15,902,000).
The loan is unsecured and interest free and is not expected
to be repaid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

On 30 November 2005 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (‘Kalasin’)
in the amount of THB36,500,000 (£573,000). The loan is
secured and is to be repaid over an 8 year term at 3.125%
of the loan principal amount repayable quarterly. Under the
terms of the loan agreement interest shall accrue on the loan
principal at a rate of 9% per annum.  On 30 June 2007 the
terms of the loan were amended such that all interest
accrued on the loan as at 30 June 2007 was capitalised and
the balance outstanding is to be repaid over eight years in
equal instalments. As security for the loan, Kalasin has
assigned its rights and obligations under relevant project
agreements to the Company.

Mekong Energy Developments Limited

On 12 November 2008 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Mekong Energy Developments Limited in the
amount of up to USD730,000. The loan is unsecured,
repayable on demand but within 18 months of the initial
drawdown and interest is payable at 10% per annum. At 30
June 2009, no amounts have been drawn down. The
Company had advanced £109,000 in the year for 
subsidiary expenses.

Santa Rita Limited Partnership

During the year the Company has advanced
USD1,425,000(£890,000) to Santa Rita Limited Partnership
(‘SRLP’).  The total now advanced is USD8,013,000
(£4,869,000).  The loan is unsecured and interest free.
Under the terms of the agreement between the Company
and SRLP, the Company has committed to contribute up to
USD26,000,000 to SRLP in order for SRLP to fund the
construction costs in Electricidad Andina SA, see note 31.

Environmental Credit Corp. LLC (ECC)

On 19 November 2008 ECC issued a convertible promissory
note (“PN”) to the Company in the amount of
USD1,000,000. The terms of the PN were amended in May
2009. The amended terms increased the principal of the PN
to the Company to USD1,500,000 and amended the
conversion price. The PN is repayable on demand or on
conversion of the PN to common shares. Interest is payable
on the outstanding loan at 15% per annum.  
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Element Markets LLC 

On 16 June 2009 the Company entered into a loan with
Element Markets LLC. The Company advanced USD
10,000,000. The loan is unsecured, repayable on 16 June
2011 (extendable for 6 months thereafter) and interest is
payable at 10% per annum commencing 120 days after the
date of disbursement. The loan was disbursed in July 2009,
see notes 31 and 36 for further details. 

Econergy Energy Generation Limited

On 14 May 2008 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Econergy Energy Corporation Limited, a
subsidiary of Econergy International PLC.  The Company
advanced USD20,000,000.  The loan was secured and
repayable on demand 18 months from the signing of the
agreement and interest was charged at a rate of LIBOR plus
5% per annum.  The loan was repaid in full together with
interest due in August 2008.

Carbon Capital Markets Limited

On 22 April 2008 the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Carbon Capital Markets Limited.  The
Company advanced  EUR1,500,000.  The loan was
unsecured, repayable on demand and interest was charged
at a rate of 20% p.a.  The loan was repaid in full together
with interest due in July 2008.
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14 Intangible assets

Goodwill has been recognised on the acquisition of
Environmental Credit Corporation, Korat Waste to Energy
Co. Ltd and Sun Biofuels Limited (“SBF”), (see note 35).  The
amortisation charge during the year has been included in
other operating expenses.

In July 2008 SBF made a rights issue offer of up to
50,000,000 ordinary shares. The whole allocation of
50,000,000 shares was taken up by the Company at a cost
of £2,700,000 which increased the Company’s aggregate
shareholding in SBF to approximately 94%. In respect of the
rights issue, a dilution gain of £369,000 was recognised in
the Company’s income statement. 

In November 2008 the Company acquired a minority
interest’s shareholding in SBF of approximately 1.63% for
USD600,000 (£438,000). At this date the fair value of 1.63%
of SBF net assets were £58,000. Goodwill of £380,000 in
respect of this purchase was deemed to be impaired and
has been written off in the income statement.

Group Goodwill

£'000

Project
developments

£'000

Total

£'000

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 213 282 495
Exchange differences 1 (4) (3)
Additions 1,590 33 1,623
Acquisitions  (note 35) 2,186 - 2,186
Impairment (note 7) (851) - (851)
Amortisation charge - (14) (14)

Closing net book amount 3,139 297 3,436

At 30 June 2008
Cost 3,139 314 3,453
Accumulated amortisation - (17) (17)

Net book amount 3,139 297 3,436

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book amount 3,139 297 3,436
Exchange differences (48) 35 (13)
Additions 380 196 576
Acquisitions  (note 35) 7,270 - 7,270
Impairment (note 7) (7,650) - (7,650)
Amortisation charge - (24) (24)

Closing net book amount 3,091 504 3,595

At 30 June 2009
Cost 3,091 545 3,636
Accumulated amortisation - (41) (41)

Net book amount 3,091 504 3,595
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Group Total

£'000

Furniture and
equipment

£'000

Motor 
vehicles

£'000

Project under
construction

£'000

Biogas
plant
£'000

At 1 July 2007
Cost 698 3,883 42 43 4,666
Accumulated depreciation (21) - (6) (13) (40)

Net book amount 677 3,883 36 30 4,626

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount 677 3,883 36 30 4,626
Exchange differences (175) (42) (1) (1) (219)
Additions 800 4,002 163 411 5,376
Acquisitions (note 35) 1,387 16 99 143 1,645
Transfer of assets 3,054 (3,079) - 25 -
Depreciation charge (531) - (135) (20) (686)

Closing net book amount 5,212 4,780 162 588 10,742

At 30 June 2008
Cost 5,686 4,780 300 619 11,385
Accumulated depreciation (474) - (138) (31) (643)

Net book amount 5,212 4,780 162 588 10,742

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net book value 5,212 4,780 162 588 10,742
Exchange differences 678 (71) (21) (52) 534
Additions 1,114 2,896 450 625 5,085
Disposals - - - (178) (178)
Acquisitions (note 35) - - - 83 83
Transfer of assets 285 (285) - - -
Depreciation charge (1,154) - (219) (20) (1,393)

At 30 June 2009 6,135 7,320 372 1,046 14,873

At 30 June 2009
Cost 7,763 7,320 729 1,097 16,909
Accumulated depreciation (1,628) - (357) (51) (2,036)

Net book amount 6,135 7,320 372 1,046 14,873
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16 Investment in subsidiaries

Company 
2009
£’000

Company 
2008
£’000

At 1 July 41,830 6,109
Additions during the year 10,361 41,688
Impairments (note 7) (1,577) (5,967)

At 30 June 50,614 41,830

Name of subsidiary undertaking %  voting
rights 
held 

% of 
nominal 

share capital  

Country 
of 

incorporation 

Environmental Credit Corporation Carbon credit creator & trader USA 77.32% 87.71%
Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited Investment holding company  Isle of Man 100.00% 100.00%
Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd Development stage company Thailand 75.00% 75.00%
Santa Rita Limited Partnership Investment holding limited partnership UK 97.33% 97.33%
Trading Emissions Limited Investment holding company UK 100.00% 100.00%
TEP Asia Limited Investment holding company Isle of Man 100.00% 100.00%
TEP Trading 1 Limited Dormant Isle of Man 100.00% 100.00%
TEP Trading 2 Limited Investment holding company Isle of Man 100.00% 100.00%
Sun Biofuels Limited Development stage company UK 98.25% 99.39%
Trading Emissions (Hong Kong) Ltd Investment holding company Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00%
Billiter Participacoes Ltda Investment holding company Brazil 100.00% 100.00%
Billiter Energy Corporation Investment holding company USA 100.00% 100.00%
Mekong Energy Developments Limited Investment holding company Hong Kong 90.00% 90.00%
Carbon Capital Market Limited Trading & carbon fund UK 99.98% 99.98%

management company
TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à.r.l. Investment holding company Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00%

Additions in the year include an increase in the Company’s
investment in Carbon Capital Markets Limited (“CCM”) through
the conversion of 9,500,000 preference shares to ordinary
shares for a fair value £4,713,000 (see note 35) and further
investments of £3,138,000 into Sun Biofuels and £2,510,000
investment into Billiter Participacoes Ltda. Impairments to
investments in CCM and Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd
were made during the year. For further detail see note 7.

Principal subsidiary undertakings

A summary of the Company's principal subsidiary undertakings
at 30 June 2009, each of which is included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is as follows:

Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC)

The Company holds a total of 15,205,000 common shares
in ECC, representing 77.32% of voting equity rights. The
Company also has a holding of 2,991,000 non-voting A
Preferred Stock and 9,434,000 voting B Preferred Stock
giving the Company  total voting rights of  87.71% . 

Carbon Capital Markets Limited (CCM) 

Prior to 22 June 2009 the Company held 6,667 ordinary
shares in CCM and 10,000,000 12% preference shares.

The preference shares were non-convertible and represented
100% of the preference shares in issue. The total
consideration paid for the preference shares was
£10,000,000. The preference shares had a fixed cumulative
dividend of 12% per annum.

On 22 June 2009, as part of a restructuring of the CCM
business, the Company converted 9,500,000 preference
shares into A ordinary shares of £0.01 each as approved at
an EGM. In event of liquidation the A ordinary shares have
priority over the remaining ordinary shares but rank after the
remaining preference shares.  A ordinary shareholders will be 
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paid a sum equal to the total paid up amount and
compounded at a rate of 12% per annum.  The A ordinary
share entitles the holder to one vote per share. Following the
conversion the Company has voting rights of 99.89% in CCM.

Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited

On 11 October 2006 Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited
was appointed the general partner of Santa Rita Limited
Partnership, a Scottish limited partnership (see below).

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd.

The Company acquired 75% of the share capital of Kalasin
Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (‘Kalasin’) in 2005, a company
incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. Kalasin has
commenced a project for a specific anaerobic digester
energy plant for the conversion of waste products into
biogas, electricity and by-products. Kalasin has been under
construction during the Company's ownership and certain
costs of construction have been capitalised and are
disclosed in the Group's balance sheet as ‘Property, plant
and equipment’. 

The Group has an additional 11.75% indirect interest in the
share capital of Kalasin through TEP Asia Limited's interest
in Asia BioGas Co., Limited which owns the remaining 25%
of Kalasin's share capital not owned by the Company. TEP
Asia Limited's investment in Asia BioGas Co., Limited is
classified in the balance sheet as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss. The Company has also entered
into a loan and facility agreement with Kalasin which includes
the future purchase of 75% of the CC's generated by
Kalasin, see note 13. 

Santa Rita Limited Partnership

Santa Rita Limited Partnership (‘SRLP’) was established by a
limited partnership agreement dated 20 September 2006
(amended and restated 11 October 2006).  SRLP's principal
place of business is Edinburgh, Scotland and it is an
investment vehicle through which the Group acquired
97.33% of the issued share capital of Electricidad Andina
S.A. (‘Andina’), a company incorporated in Peru. Andina is
developing a hydro electric project in Santa Rita, Peru.
Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited has been appointed
as the general partner of SRLP.  The Company made an
initial investment to SRLP of USD3,500,000 by way of
USD35 capital and USD3,499,965 as a loan, see notes 13
and 31.1.

Trading Emissions Limited

Trading Emissions Limited was incorporated in the United
Kingdom on 23 February 2005. It was dormant until it was
acquired by the Company to hold certain ERPAs prior to the
extension of the Kyoto Protocol by the United Kingdom to
cover the Isle of Man.

TEP Asia Limited

TEP Asia Limited is an investment holding company.  At 30
June 2009 TEP Asia Limited owns 47% of the issued share
capital of Asia BioGas Co., Ltd in Thailand and 99.9% of the
issued and paid up share capital of Clean Energy Asia
Limited.  The Company has loans to TEP Asia Limited in the
amount of £4,150,000, THB 113,000,000, PHP13,373,380
and USD17,645,000 see note 13.

TEP Trading 2 Limited

The Company was incorporated on 11 November 2005 in
the Isle of Man. The share capital of the Company is
USD10,000,100 comprising 100 ordinary shares of USD1
each and 10,000 redeemable preference shares of USD
0.01 issued at a price of USD1,000 per share. Prior to 4
May 2007 TEP Trading 2 Limited used its funds to invest in a
discretionary portfolio which traded in environmental
instruments including futures and options contracts in the
United States of America. The portfolio was managed by CK
Environmental Capital Management LLC under the terms of
an investment management agreement dated 15 December
2005. The investment management agreement was
terminated on 1 June 2007. 

On 4 May 2007 TEP Trading 2 Limited transferred its
discretionary portfolio to a newly formed Delaware limited
partnership, Chapel Street Environmental LP (the
‘Partnership’), which is managed by CK Environmental
Capital Management LLC. In exchange the Company
received a limited partnership interest in the Partnership
equivalent to the fair value of the assets in the discretionary
portfolio at the date of transfer. TEP Trading 2 Limited's
interest in the Partnership is included in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Sun Biofuels Limited

Sun Biofuels Limited is a UK based biofuels company
operating predominantly in emerging markets. On 24
September 2007 the Group acquired a further 23.69% of the
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issued share capital of Sun Biofuels Limited at a cost of
£1,010,000.  

In July 2008, the Company accepted a share offer of
50,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 each at issued price or
total cost of USD5,000,000. A further 96,918,654 “B”
ordinary shares were issued to the Company as a result of
the anti dilution provision associated with the original “B”
ordinary investment. This took the Company total
shareholding to 97.76%.

As at June 2009, the Company holds 99.39% of the voting
rights (excluding the non-voting Deferred Shares) and 98.25%
equity interest in Sun-Biofuels.

Billiter Participacoes Limitada

Billiter Participacoes Limitada is an investment holding
company incorporated in Brazil.  The Company has invested in
a 25% share of Bionasa Combustivel Natural SA, a Brazilian
biodiesel production company.  At 30 June 2009, the
production plant is under construction.

Billiter Energy Corporation

Billiter Energy Corporation is an investment holding company

incorporated in Delaware USA.  The Company has issued
unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand loans to Billiter
Energy Corporation of USD20,000,000.  Billiter Energy
Corporation used these funds to purchase investments to
realise returns on emissions reductions credits.

TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à.r.l. 

TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à.r.l. is a holding company which
owns the issued share capital of TEP Investment Luxembourg
S.a.r.l., an investment holding company.  On 5 February 2008
the Company subscribed for 41,800 Preferred Equity
Certificates issued by TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à.r.l. at a
price of €25 each, for a total of €1,045,000.  The Preferred
Equity Certificates pay interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum
and are mandatorily redeemable on the 30th anniversary of
issue.  TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à.r.l. used these 
funds to invest in 25% of the issued share capital of 
EcoTraders Limited.

Group subsidiary undertakings 

In addition to its investments in direct subsidiaries listed above,
the Company has the following effective interest in
undertakings owned by its subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary undertaking %  voting
rights 
held 

% of 
nominal 

share capital  

Country 
of 

incorporation 

Clean Energy Asia Limited Investment holding company Isle of Man 99.31% 99.31%
Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation Development stage company Philippines 99.31% 99.31%
Swine Waste to Energy Co. Ltd Development stage company Thailand 99.31% 99.31%
Electricidad Andina SA Development stage company Peru 97.33% 97.33%
Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation Development stage company Philippines 99.31% 99.31%
CTY CP Biogas Tay Ninh Development stage company Vietnam 99.31% 99.31%
Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd Power generation company Thailand 80.94% 80.94%
TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à.r.l. Investment holding company Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00%
Chapel Street Environmental LLC Trading Limited Partnership USA 65.21% 0.00%



Clean Energy Asia Limited, Magallanes Bio-Energy
Corporation and CTY CP Biogas Tay Ninh

In 2008 Clean Energy Asia Limited acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of Magallenes Bio-Energy Corporation, a
company based in the Philippines, and 100% of the issued
share capital of CTY CP Biogas Tay Ninh, a company based 
in Vietnam.

TEP Asia Limited and Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd 

In 2008 TEP Asia Limited acquired 80.94% of the issued share
capital of Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd.

TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à.r.l. and TEP Holding
Luxembourg S.à.r.l. and EcoTraders Limited 

During 2008 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à.r.l. through its
subsidiary TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à.r.l. which in turn
acquired 25% of EcoTraders Limited.

Clean Energy Asia Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy
Corporation and Swine Waste to Energy Co., Ltd 

During 2007 Clean Energy Asia Limited acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation a
company based in the Philippines and 100% of the issued
share capital of Swine Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, a company
based in Thailand.

Electricidad Andina SA 

During 2007 the Group acquired Electricidad Andina SA
through its subsidiary Santa Rita Limited Partnership.

17 Cash and cash equivalents and cash margin
payable to broker

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise the following balances with original
maturity of less than 90 days:

The effective interest rate of short-term bank deposits at 30
June 2009 and 2008 was 1.36% and 5.52% per annum, 
respectively. These deposits have an average maturity of 149
days (2008: 30 days).

Restricted cash

At 30 June 2009, short term bank deposits included
£40,217,000 (2007: £50,607,000) of current and non current
cash held in a pledge guarantee account which is used
specifically for drawdown obligations under the World Bank
Umbrella Carbon Facility agreement, see note 30.

The margin call account is specifically designated to cover
the open derivative contracts the Company has entered into.
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Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Cash at bank 8,407 1,781 5,414 74
Short-term bank deposits 117,198 116,072 79,115 76,973

125,605 117,853 84,529 77,047
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(b) Cash margin payable to broker

In order to trade on ECX, the Company has to place a
margin for each contract traded.  The margin calls for futures
and options contracts take two forms - initial and variation
margin. Initial margin is a returnable good faith deposit
required whenever a futures position is opened. The cash is
returned when the position is closed out or expires (goes to
delivery). Variation margin represents the profit/loss in a
position each day which is calculated by the clearing house.
In the case of excess margin collateralised against the
marked to market gains, the Company can withdraw the
excess from the broker account.  At 30 June 2009, the
unrealised marked to market gain withdrawn was
£17,843,000 (2008: nil).

The Company also holds foreign exchange forward contracts
with a broker.  The contracts are marked to market daily and
if the contract is out of the money, a variation margin will be
called on that day.  As of 30 June 2009, no margin was
required for these contracts (2008: nil).

18 Trade and other receivables

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Non-current
Accrued dividend income – subsidiaries - 1,479 - 648
Other debtors 13 - - -

13 1,479 - 648

Current
Accrued dividend income - - 3,439 3,439
Accrued bank and loan interest 444 729 1,067 1,148
Trade and other receivables – subsidiaries - 328 - 394
Trade and other receivables 9,198 4,720 19,211 17,863
Prepayments 1,223 1,044 3,588 3,417

10,865 6,821 27,305 26,261
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19 Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

During the year £37,624 (2008: £4,044) was the cost of
inventory sold and £11,473 (2008: £23,600) of the
movement in inventory at fair value less costs to sell relates
to fair value changes. 

Included within amounts due to related parties, non current
and current, at 30 June 2009 is £23,070,000 and
£7,826,000 respectively which relates to amounts due to the
Company’s Investment Adviser in accordance with the
revised payment terms for the 2008 performance fee, as
disclosed in note 5. These amounts are net of a fair value
adjustment of £1,494,000 which has been recognised in the
Company’s income statement.

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

European Union Allowances (EUAs) 16,994 14,879 - -
Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) 29,140 28,306 31,734 26,258
Other CC’s 218 148 - -

46,352 43,333 31,734 26,258

20 Trade and other payables

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008

£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Non-current
Amounts due to related parties 23,130 23,070 50 -
Trade and other payables 5,461 5,461 76 -

28,591 28,531 126 -

Current
Accrued expenses 542 373 636 482
Amounts due to related parties 9,659 12,507 43,557 43,645
Trade and other payables – subsidiaries - - - 88
Trade and other payables 5,314 3,205 1,639 270

15,515 16,085 45,832 44,485
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21 Borrowings

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Non-current
Bank borrowings 57 - 192 -

Current
Bank borrowings 263 - 192 -

22 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Company 
2008

£’000

Group 
2008
£’000

Company 
2009

£’000

Group 
2009
£’000

Legal provision - - 97 -
Sales contract - - 1,556 1,556

- - 1,653 1,556

Bank borrowings represent a bank loan of THB 25,600,000
received by Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (“Korat”).
Interest is charged on the loan at a rate of 6.75% per annum
and the proceeds have been used to purchase plant and
machinery.  The loan is secured against the Korat’s plant and
machinery and is repayable over 2 years.

(a) Legal provision

The amount represents a provision for certain legal fees
brought about by TEP Asia Limited’s purchase of Korat
Waste to Energy Co., Ltd. The provision charge is
recognised in the income statement within ‘administrative
expenses’. All the legal fees were fully paid as at 30 June
2009 and the provision was released. 

(b) Sales contract

In 2008 the Company entered into a contract to deliver
CERs to the UK government at a price of £9.76 per CER.
These CERs were sourced from small scale projects
approved by the UK government.  The Company entered
into term sheets to buy these CERs at £14.43 which resulted
in a loss on the contract which was provided for in full in
2008.  The contract was delivered during the year and the
provision was released.
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Deferred income tax arises on both unrealised fair value
gains recognised in the Group’s overseas investments and
subsidiaries, withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain investments
and subsidiaries.

23 Deferred income tax liabilities

Unremitted
earnings

£’000

Fair value 
gains
£’000

Group Other

£’000

Total

£’000

Deferred tax liabilities – Non-current
At 1 July 2007 - - - -
Charged to income statement in 2008 4,395 1,153 - 5,548

At 30 June 2008 4,395 1,153 - 5,548
Exchange differences - 304 - 304
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 35) - - 743 743
Credited to income statement in 2009 (3,861) (568) - (4,429)

At 30 June 2009 534 889 743 2,166

24 Financial instruments by category

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£’000

Loans and
receivables

£’000

Loans and
receivables

£’000

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£’000

Assets as per balance sheet
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 217,930 - 145,193
Loans and receivables 196 - 41,981 -
Inventory at fair value less cost to sell - 46,352 - 43,333
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 9,655 - 7,256 -
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 178,117 - 158,131 -

Total 187,968 264,282 207,368 188,526

Company 
2009

Group 
2009
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Other 
financial
liabilities

£’000

Liabilities 
at fair value

through profit
or loss

£’000

Liabilities 
at fair value

through profit
or loss
£’000

Other 
financial
liabilities

£’000

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings - 320 - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 22,455 - 3,646 -
Cash margin payable to broker - 17,843 - 17,843

Total 22,455 18,163 3,646 17,843

Company 
2009

Group 
2009

Other 
financial
liabilities

£’000

Liabilities 
at fair value

through profit
or loss

£’000

Liabilities 
at fair value

through profit
or loss

£’000

Other 
financial
liabilities

£’000

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings - 384 - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 11,030 - 8,319 -

Total 11,030 384 8,319 -

Company 
2008

Group 
2008

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£’000

Loans and
receivables

£’000

Loans and
receivables

£’000

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£’000

Assets as per balance sheet
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 468,897 - 401,799
Loans and receivables 11,309 - 40,241 -
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell - 31,734 - 26,258
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 23,717 - 23,492 -
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 146,639 - 139,157 -

Total 181,665 500,631 202,890 428,057

Company 
2008

Group 
2008



25 Net asset value per share and (loss)/ earnings
per share

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets attributable to the Ordinary shareholders of the
Company by the number of Ordinary shares in issue at 30
June 2009 and 2008.

25.1 Net asset value per share

25.2 (Loss)/earnings per share

(a) Basic

The basic (loss)/earnings per Ordinary share and C share are
calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to Ordinary
shareholders and the profit attributable to the C shareholders
by the weighted average number of Ordinary shares and C
shares in issue during the year.
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Group
2009

Group
2008

Ordinary shares
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of Ordinary shares (£’000) (228,697) 160,114
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number ‘000) 272,902 227,801

Basic (loss)/earnings per Ordinary share (in pence) (83.80) 70.29

C shares
Profit attributable to equity holders of the C shares (£’000) - 28,866
Weighted average number of C shares in issue (number ‘000) - 175,000

Basic earnings per C share (in pence) - 16.49

Group
2009

Group
2008

Net assets attributable to Ordinary shareholders (£'000) 383,829 634,646
Ordinary shares in issue (number ‘000) 255,118 279,968

Net asset value per Ordinary share (in pence) 150.45p 226.69p



82 Trading Emissions plc Report and Accounts 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

On 13 November 2007, the Company's C shares were
converted to Ordinary shares at a ratio of one C Share to
0.8683 Ordinary shares.  The resulting number of Ordinary
shares was 286,952,700 after the conversion.  During the
process, 23,047,500 Deferred Shares were created and
subsequently redeemed by the Company at £0.01 each
using share premium in accordance with the Company's
Articles of Association.

The net proceeds received from the Company's Ordinary
share issue and C share issue were accounted for as two
separate pools of funds up to the date of conversion.

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of Ordinary shares and C shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
Ordinary shares and C shares. The Company does not have
any dilutive potential Ordinary shares or C shares and
therefore diluted earnings per ordinary share and diluted
earnings per C share are the same as the basic
(loss)/earnings per Ordinary share and C share.

26 Share capital

The total number of authorised and issued Ordinary shares
of the Company at 30 June 2009 and 2008 together with
their rights are explained below.

All issued shares are fully paid, and each share carries the
right to one vote. 

Company
2008
£'000 

Company
2008

(Number '000)

Company
2009
£'000 

Company
2009

(Number '000)

Authorised
Ordinary shares of £0.01 par value 460,000 4,600 460,000 4,600

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £0.01 par value 255,118 2,551 279,968 2,800

Total

£’000

Deferred
shares
£’000

C shares

£’000

Ordinary
shares
£’000

At 1 July 2007 1,350 1,750 - 3,100
Share conversion 1,520 (1,750) 230 -
Redemption of deferred shares - - (230) (230)
Purchase of own shares (70) - - (70)

At 30 June 2008 2,800 - - 2,800

Purchase of own shares (249) - - (249)

At 30 June 2009 2,551 - - 2,551
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During the year the Company purchased and cancelled
24,849,000 (2008: 6,985,000) of its Ordinary shares at an
aggregate cost of £21,446,000 (2008: £9,967,000).

27 Share premium

The Company's share premium has arisen on the issue of
the Company's Ordinary and C shares and represents the
difference between the issue price of £1.00 and the par
value of £0.01.  Amounts were recorded net of issuance
costs.

On conversion of the Company's C shares to Ordinary
shares in November 2007, 23,047,500 Deferred redeemable
shares were created and subsequently redeemed by the
Company at £0.01 each, resulting in a credit to share
premium.

28 Dividends paid

The Company paid an interim dividend of £4,058,000 in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2009 (30 June 2008:
£nil). 

The Board has recommended a final dividend of 3.0 pence
per share, which subject to approval by the Company in the
general meeting, would be paid in January 2010. If
approved, this will represent a total dividend for the year of
4.5 pence per share. As required by IAS 10 ‘Events after
balance sheet date’, dividends proposed after the balance
sheet date have not been accrued at 30 June 2009.

29 Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of each
reserve within shareholders' equity.

Reserve Description and purpose

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in
excess of nominal value, less share issue
costs.

Retained earnings Cumulative net realised and unrealised
gains and losses recognised in the
consolidated and company income
statements.

Reserve Description and purpose

Other reserves This reserve represents the capital
redemption reserve. The capital
redemption reserve is the nominal
amount of the Company’s own shares
that have been purchased for
cancellation.  The amounts included in
this reserve represent transfers from the
Company’s retained earnings.

Translation reserve Unrealised gains and losses arising on
retranslating the net assets of overseas
operations into the Company’s functional
currency.

30 Contingencies

The Company participated in the first Tranche of the
Umbrella Carbon Facility managed by the World Bank in
December 2005 to acquire CERs up to December 2013.
The Company had arranged a fully pledged bank guarantee
in favour of the World Bank to secure the transaction in
August 2006 in the amount of €68,110,000. The bank
guarantee commitment at 30 June 2009 was €47,128,000
(2008:  €62,560,000) and was reduced to €43,744,000 in
August 2009.  The Company has £40,217,000 (2008:
£50,607,000) of restricted cash (see note 17) held in respect
of this pledged bank guarantee.  The Directors do not
expect any losses to arise from the guarantee the Company
has entered into.

31 Commitments

31.1 Investment commitment

(a) Silk Roads Limited, TEP Asia Limited, and Asia
Biogas Company Limited

The Company entered into a project development agreement
with Silk Roads Limited and its associates on 31 March
2006. As part of the transaction the Company committed to
provide finance up to USD 60 million to Asia BioGas
Company Limited to develop renewable energy projects in
Asia. To facilitate the investment, the Company has and will
grant loans to TEP Asia Limited and its underlying
investments. At 30 June 2009 the Company had invested
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USD29 million (2008: USD14.5 million) in projects by way of
equity and loans. The remaining commitment at 30 June
2009 is USD31 million (2007: USD45.5 million).

(b) Santa Rita Limited Partnership

The Company entered into a project development agreement
with Santa Rita Limited Partnership on 11 October 2006.
Under the terms of the agreement Santa Rita Limited
Partnership has committed to provide financing of the capital
costs of Electricidad Andina SA in the expected amount of
USD232 million.  It is anticipated that the Company will
contribute up to USD26 million of this amount.  At 30 June
2009 USD8.0 million (2008: USD6.6 million) of financing has
been provided by the Company, see note 13.

(c) Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation

TEP Asia Limited has provided a loan facility of
USD3,319,000 to Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation (‘HBC’)
at an interest rate of 10% p.a. repayable in 16 equal
quarterly instalments following the respective project
commissioning. On 8 June 2007 95% of this facility was
drawn down leaving USD166,000 still to be drawn. The
remaining 5% loan facility of USD 166,000 was drawn down
on 28 August 2008.

On 11 June 2008 TEP Asia Limited entered into another loan
agreement with HBC for a total of USD1,077,000 at an
interest rate of 10% p.a. repayable over 16 equal quarterly
instalments. 79% of this facility was drawn down on 28
August 2008 leaving USD 226,000. A further USD 44,000
was drawn down on 2 February 2009 leaving USD182,000.

(d) Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation

In 2008 the Company’s subsidiary TEP Asia Limited has
granted Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation (‘MBC’) a USD5
million credit facility valid up to 31 December 2012, this was
further extended to USD 9 million valid up to 31 December
2012.  This credit facility will only be drawn down when a
project is presented for investment.  At 30 June 2009 no
amounts had been drawn down under this facility.

(e) EcoTraders Limited

In 2008 the Company’s subsidiary TEP Investment S.à.r.l.
granted EcoTraders Limited a €1,500,000 credit facility valid
up to 31 March 2013.  This credit facility is for the purpose
of working capital and business development costs.  As 
of 30 June 2009 no drawdown has been made against 
this facility.

(f) Bionasa Combustive Natural SA – Brazil

In July 2007 the Company acquired 25% of the issue share
capital of Bionasa Combustive Natural SA at a cost of
R$125million (approximately £33 million).  The investment is
to be made over 18 months. The full investment was paid up
on July 2008 with no outstanding commitment as at 30
June 2009.

(g) Element Markets LLC

In June 2009, the Company granted a loan of USD10 million
to Element Markets LLC for two years. It is convertible into
common capital of Element Markets LLC upon certain
events. As at 30 June 2009, there was no outstanding
balance. In July 2009, the loan was fully drawn down as
disclosed in the post balance sheet event.

(h) Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC)

On 20 April 2009, the Company granted ECC a credit facility
of USD5 million to develop environmental projects in Mexico.
The line of credit is valid until 31 December 2009 at an
annual interest rate of 8%.   The loan will be repaid in CERs
at a unit price €13 for pre-2012 CER and €6 for post-2012
CER.   Nothing was  outstanding as of  30 June 2009.  
USD875,000 was drawn down on 13 July 2009.
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31.2 Contractual commitments

The Group has entered into a number of long term ERPAs to
purchase Carbon Credits (CCs) produced from various
projects. As of 30 June 2009, the maximum quantity
contracted for by the Group amounted to 93.7 million CCs
(2008: 81.0 million CERs).

Details of the Group's CC risk adjusted commitments, which
are payable in Euros and USD at 30 June 2009 and 2008
are as follows:

32 Directors' interests

The following Directors had interests in the Ordinary shares
of the Company: 

None of the other Directors had any interest in the shares of
the Company at any time during the years ended 30 June
2009 and 30 June 2008.  

33 Related-party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability to control the other party or to exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or
operational decisions.

The following have been identified as related parties:

• Subsidiaries;
• Associates;
• The Company’s Investment Adviser, EEA Fund

Management Ltd
• Individuals including the Directors of the Company, and

certain partners, directors and senior management of EEA
Fund Management Limited who meet the definition of “key
management personnel” in IAS 24; and

• Close family members of key management personnel and
companies combined by, or associated with, key
management personnel or their close family members.

Company
2009
£'000 

Company
2008
£'000 

Within one year 37,772 19,549
Two to five years 195,222 202,840
More than five years 35,255 46,922

Total 268,249 269,311

Company
2009

Ordinary shares
Number

(‘000) 

Company
2008

Ordinary shares
Number

(‘000) 

N D Eckert 1,818 1,773 
M J Gillies 67 22 
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33.1 Directors

The Directors of the Company have received fees during the
year as set out in note 6. Directors' interests in the Ordinary
shares of the Company are set out in note 32.

Neil Eckert, the Chairman of the Company also served as
Chairman of Econergy International PLC, the holding
company of Econergy International Corporation, until his
resignation from this position on 30 September 2008. The
Company held ordinary shares in Econergy International PLC
with a fair value of £2,264,000 at 30 June 2008. In
September 2005 the Company entered into an agreement
with Econergy International Corporation whereby the
Company provided Econergy International Corporation with
a USD4 million loan repayable in CERs.  The fair value at 30
June 2009 of CERs delivered to the Company under the
terms of this loan in 2009 was £8,357,000 (2008:
£597,000). All CER’s due were fully delivered during the year.
In  May 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement
with Econergy Energy Generation Limited, a subsidiary of
Econergy International Corporation for USD20 million.  The
loan was secured and repayable 18 months from the date of
advance.  Under the terms of the loan agreement interest
was accruing on the loan at a rate per annum equal to
LIBOR + 6% of the outstanding amount and interest was
repayable at the same time as repayment (in whole or in
part) of the loan.  The loan was repaid in full in 2009.

Neil Eckert is a director of the Company’s subsidiary
Environmental Credit Corporation. At 30 June 2009 the
Company held 88% of ECC’s total voting rights see note 16. 

Phillip Scales is a director of IOMAFIM and both Philip
Scales and Nigel Wood have an ownership interest in
IOMAFIM. Philip Scales and Nigel Wood are both directors of
the Company. Chamberlain, the Company’s administrator
has entered into a sub administration agreement with
IOMAFIM.  See note 5.  Sub-administration fees amounting
to £284,000 (2008: £348,667) were payable to IOMAFIM
during the year. Robin Bigland was a director of the
Company until his date of resignation on 31 December
2007. Robin Bigland is also a director of IOMAFIM. 

33.2 Investment Adviser

The Company is advised by EEA Fund Management Limited
(‘EEA’), an investment management company incorporated
in the United Kingdom. The Investment Adviser receives an
advisory and performance fee under the terms of the
investment advisory agreement. A summary of the terms of
the agreement together with the amount of fees paid in the

years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008 and the amounts due
to the Investment Adviser at 30 June 2009 and 2008 is
included in note 5.

Certain directors and employees of the Investment Adviser
are regarded as key management personnel, and hold
director positions on a number of the Group's subsidiaries
and equity investments as follows:

Simon Shaw a director of Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd,
Sun Biofuels Limited, Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd,
Carbon Capital Markets Limited, Asia BioGas Co., Limited,
Swine Waste to Energy Co. Limited, and Trading Emissions
(Hong Kong) Ltd.

Justin Guest is a director of TEP Asia Limited, Clean Energy
Asia Limited, Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, Sun Biofuels
Limited, Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd , Asia BioGas Co.,
Limited, Swine Waste to Energy Co. Limited, Hacienda Bio-
Energy Corporation, Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation and
EcoTraders Limited.

Des Godson is a director of Kalasin Waste to Energy Co.,
Ltd, Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, Swine Waste to 
Energy Co. Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation,
Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation and Trading Emissions
(Hong Kong) Limited.

Ricardo Nogueira is a director of Environmental Credit
Corporation, Billiter Participacoes Ltda, Billiter Energy
Corporation and Bionasa Combusive Natural SA.

Gabriele Pamesberger is a director of EcoTraders Limited

Paul Bowden is a director of Energia Escalona S. de S.
R.L.de C.V.

33.3 Subsidiaries and associates

The Company has entered into loans with its subsidiaries
and associates in which it has invested and are accounted
for as loans and receivables. Details can be found in notes
13 and 16. 

34 Segment reporting

(a) Business segments

The Group operates a single business segment which
invests in interests in a portfolio of environmental ventures.
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(b) Geographic segments

The Group's business is conducted globally.  The Group's
income, total assets and capital expenditure at 30 June
2009 and 2008 are reported by continent.  

In presenting the information on the basis of geographical
segments, segment total assets are based on the
geographical location of the assets and segmental
income and capital expenditure is based on the 
geographical location from which that income is derived or
expenditure incurred.

35 Business combinations

(a) Year ended 2009

Carbon Capital Markets Limited

In May 2005 the Group acquired 40% of the ordinary share
capital of Carbon Capital Markets Limited (“CCM”) a trading
and fund management company based in the United
Kingdom for £1,000,000. In November 2008 the Group
obtained board control of CCM. Goodwill of £640,000 was
recognised on this transaction and determined to be
impaired. The acquired business contributed revenues of
£919,000 and a net loss of £1,181,000 to the Group for the
period from its date of acquisition to 30 June 2009. If the
acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2008, the Group’s net
change in fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss would have decreased by
£4,080,000 and loss before allocations would have
increased by £5,719,000. Details of the net liabilities
acquired and goodwill which has been impaired as well as

Total
assets
£'000

Income

£'000

Capital 
expenditure

£'000 

North America (1,268) 29,652 152
South America 6 44,244 507
Africa 37 5,126 997
Asia 3,134 18,972 3,404
Europe (212,321) 373,947 25

(210,412) 471,941 5,085

2009

Total
assets
£'000

Income

£'000

Capital 
expenditure

£'000 

North America 3,072 23,864 286
South America 5,800 70,772 1,534
Africa 3,360 846 314
Asia 230,226 431,899 3,242
Europe 12,427 172,681 -

254,885 700,062 5,376

2008
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the assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition are as
follows:

(b) Year ended 2008

Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

On 26 July 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of
81% of the issued share capital of Korat Waste to Energy
Co., Ltd, a large biogas / energy generating asset in
Thailand, for USD5,002,000.  The project has been
operating for a number of years and was registered by the
UN Executive Board.  The project is expected to generate
300,000 CCs per annum and is currently undergoing
verification for delivery of several years' volume of CCs.  

The acquired business contributed revenues of £1,133,000
and a net profit of £420,000 to the Group from 26 July 2007
to 30 June 2008.  If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July
2007 there would be no increase in Group revenues and net
profit would decrease by £1,000 in the year ended 30 June
2008.

Sun Biofuels Limited

On 24 September 2007, the Company purchased the
founder shares of Sun Biofuels Limited (‘Sun Biofuels’)
constituting 23.69% of Sun Biofuels share capital. On
completion of the purchase the Company owned 58.37% of
the ordinary share capital of Sun Biofuels.  The terms of the
purchase consisted of an upfront payment of USD1.10 per
ordinary share payable by the Company and the issue of one
deferred share by Sun Biofuels.  The deferred shareholder is
entitled to be paid USD0.40 per share upon certain exit

events such as an IPO or refinancing of at least USD1.50 per
share.   The deferred shares have no other rights.  

Prior to 24 September 2007 the Company accounted for its
34.68% shareholding in Sun Biofuels as an investment at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 28.  In
accordance with IFRS 3 upon acquisition the fair value
losses of £3,346,000 previously recognised in “Net changes,
respectively in fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” were reversed
and an impairment charge of £2,257,000 and £3,346,000
was recognised in the Company’s and Group’s  income
statement. The Company's share of Sun Biofuels
shareholders deficit at 24 September 2007 of £1,952,000
was recognised directly in reserves.

The acquired business contributed revenues of £13,000 and
a net loss of £1,249,000 to the Group from 24 September
2007 to 30 June 2008.  If the acquisition had taken place on
1 July 2007 there would have been no increase in Group
revenues and net profit would have decreased by £360,000
in the year ended 30 June 2008.

£'000 

Property, plant and equipment (note 15) 83
Cash and cash equivalents 20,106
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,650
Other current assets 1,445
Current liabilities (1,279)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (15,436)
Deferred tax liability (note 23) (743)
Non current liabilities (12,096)

Fair value of net liabilities acquired (6,270)

Goodwill/loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity (see notes 7 and 14) 7,270

Total purchase consideration 1,000
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The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired by the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2008 approximated
their book value at the date of their acquisition and were as
follows:-

36 Post balance sheet events

Issue of Equity to Investment Adviser

Further to the payment installment plan as set out in the
revised terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement
between EEA and the Company, as disclosed in note 5, the
Company has issued to EEA, and applied for admission to
trading on AIM, 2,313,543 ordinary shares of 1p.  These shares
were issued in consideration of payment of £4.049 million,
being the share consideration element of the second installment
of the performance fee due for the 2008 financial year.  

The shares were admitted to trading on 4 September 2009
and are subject to a lock in period of 12 months.  After the issue,
EEA will hold 10.473m shares in the Company representing
4.0684% of the enlarged issued share capital. Following the
issue the Company has 257,431,973 shares in issue.

Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC)

ECC drew down a further USD 150,000 on the Promissory

Note issued by it to the Company (see note 16) in August
2009 resulting in total Promissory Note  in issue from ECC to
the Company of USD 1,500,000.

ECC drew down USD 875,000 of the USD 5,000,000 credit
facility issued to it by the Company in July 2009 having reached
a target of signing up projects generating 35,000 CERs. 

Sun Biofuels Limited (SBF)

In July 2009, the Company granted a USD5 million
convertible loan facility to SBF for funding its short term cash
flow requirements.  Interest is payable on the loan at 8% per
annum and the loan is repayable 3 years after the date of
drawdown and is convertible into SBF shares in the event of
a successful fundraising by SBF.  USD 1 million of the facility
was drawn down on 1 September 2009. 

Element Markets LLC (EM)

The USD 10 million convertible loan granted in June 2009
was drawn down in full in July 2009.  

Sun Biofuels
Limited

£'000

Korat Waste to
Energy Co Ltd

£'000

Total

£'000

Property, plant and equipment 1,409 236 1,645
Cash and cash equivalents 169 1,403 1,572
Other current assets - 99 99
Non current assets 158 - 158
Current liabilities (178) (232) (410)
Non current liabilities (339) - (339)

Fair value of net assets acquired 1,219 1,506 2,725

Loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity - 1,952 1,952
Impairment (note 7) - 2,257 2,257
Goodwill (note 14) 1,243 943 2,186

Total purchase consideration* 2,462 6,658 9,120

* Purchase consideration for Sun Biofuels Limited includes £5,648,000 paid by the Company for its initial 34.68% shareholding (note 7).
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Company Information

Directors
Neil David Eckert (Chairman)
Malcolm John Gillies
Bertrand Rassool
Philip Peter Scales
Nigel Harley Wood
Charles Peter Arthur Vanderpump

Secretary
Philip Peter Scales

Administrator, Registrar
and Registered Office
Chamberlain Fund Services Limited
3rd Floor Exchange House
54 - 62 Athol Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1JD

Crest Provider
Computershare Investor Services
(Channel Island) Limited
Ordinance House
31 Pier Road
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PW

Custodian
BNP Paribas Securities Services 
(IOM) Limited
PO Box 57
Merchant’s House
North Quay
Douglas
Isle of Man IM99 2PG

Investment Adviser
EEA Fund Management Limited
22 Billiter Street
London EC3M 2RY

Nominated Adviser and
Broker
Cenkos Securities PLC
6,7,8 Tokenhouse Yard
London EC2R 7AS

Solicitors to the Company
Shepherd and Wedderburn
Condor House
10 St. Paul’s Churchyard
London EC4M 8AL

Independent Auditors to
the Company
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sixty Circular Road
Douglas
Isle of Man IM1 1SA

Bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland
International Limited
Royal Bank House
2 Victoria Street 
Douglas
Isle of Man IM99 1NJ

Barclays Bank Plc
Barclays House 
Victoria Street
Douglas
Isle of Man IM99 1AJ



The Company is committed to the continuous
development of its environmental and social
screening criteria, performance and ongoing
monitoring of its projects and investments, as
well as the promotion of best practice in its
business operations.
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